
1



2



3



4



Zebulon Board of Commissioner 

Meeting Minutes 

January 6, 2025 

 
Present: Mayor Glenn York, Jessica Harrison, Beverly Clark, Shannon Baxter, Amber Davis, 

Quentin Miles, Gilbert Todd, Jr. - Manager, Kellianne Williams - Asst. Town Manager, Lisa 

Markland - Town Clerk, Bobby Fitts - Finance, Kaleb Harmon - Communications, Bob 

Grossman - Police, Tonya Easterwood – IT, Eric Vernon – Attorney 

 

Mayor York called the meeting to order. 

 

Pledge Of Allegiance 
Mayor York asked Amy Sparks to lead the pledge of allegiance. 

 

Approval Of Agenda 
Commissioner Clark asked to amend the agenda to include a discussion of Town Clerk 

interviews.  

 

Commissioner Baxter requested to remove the budget amendments for administration and add 

them to the work session agenda. Commissioner Miles requested that the closed session be 

removed from the agenda. 

 

Commissioner Harrison made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Baxter, to adopt the 

agenda as amended. There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

School Recognition 
East Wake High School 

Mayor York recognized the student Amy Sparks and teacher Andrew Baker from East Wake 

High School. 

 

Public Comment 
Wade Harris, representing the Raleigh Firebirds basketball team, invited people to attend 

games played at St. Augustine's gym. 

 

Vickie Cole introduced a non-profit foundation called Bridging the Gap. She explained that the 

program's purpose is to bring together adopted children from different families, allowing them 

to maintain connections with their siblings even when living in different households. 

 

Consent Agenda 
Commissioner Baxter made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Harrison, to approve the 

minutes for September 9, 2024. There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

Commissioner Baxter made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Harrison, to approve the 

minutes for September 24, 2024. There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

Commissioner Baxter made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Harrison, to approve the 

minutes for October 7, 2024. There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

5



Board of Commissioners 

Minutes 

January 6, 2025 

 

Commissioner Baxter made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Harrison, to approve the 

Wake County Tax Report for October 2024. There was no discussion, and the motion passed 

unanimously. 

 

Commissioner Baxter made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Harrison, to adopt 

Ordinance 2025-21. There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

Commissioner Baxter made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Harrison, to adopt 

Ordinance 2025-22. There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

Commissioner Baxter made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Harrison, to approve the 

2025 Governor’s Crime Commission Grant Process. There was no discussion, and the motion 

passed unanimously. 

 

Old Business 

Strategy/Visioning Consultants - Ordinance 2025-17 
Town Manager Gilbert Todd, Jr. reported on the Board's request from the December 19th work 

session to explore alternatives for the Board retreat. He stated that they reached out to the 

League of Municipalities, who informed them that this was not a service they offered. The 

School of Government was also contacted, but due to numerous requests for January 2025, 

they were unable to provide the service. 

 

Manager Todd explained that the School of Government typically charges on a graduating 

scale based on the municipality's population. For Zebulon, the cost would be upwards of 

$10,000, depending on expectations and scope. 

 

He then mentioned reaching out to DreamBuilders for information and a quote, which had been 

provided to the Board. Mr. Todd recommended bringing in DreamBuilders to facilitate the 

board retreat in late January or early February. 

 

Commissioner Clark made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Miles, to approve Ordinance 

2025-17 for DreamBuilders to provide the service of a board retreat. There was no discussion, 

and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

Strategic Plan Grants 
Assistant Town Manager Kellianne Williams stated that the Board had been considering this 

policy for a while and recommended its approval to allow for a competitive process for area 

non-profits. 

 

Ms. Williams explained that the Strategic Plan Mini Grant Program was intended to create a 

competitive process for area nonprofits to receive funding from the Town for their community 

work. She emphasized that the program would have specific parameters for awarding grants 

and ensure an open and transparent process. 

 

Commissioner Davis suggested that this topic be part of a work session for further discussion. 

 

Commissioner Harrison made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Davis, to table the 

discussion on the Strategic Plan Mini Grants to the January 16, 2025 work session. 

 

6



Board of Commissioners 

Minutes 

January 6, 2025 

 

Commissioner Baxter requested that all questions and answers be sent to the Board ahead of 

time to facilitate moving forward with approval of this topic. 

 

Mayor Glenn York called for a vote on the motion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

Manager's Report 
Finance Director Bobby Fitts reported the following budget transfers: 

 

Public Works - Property & Project Management: 

Moved $5,000 to Part-time Salaries from Ground Maintenance; 

Moved $3,000 to Equipment Maintenance from Professional Services; 

Moved $750 Mowing Equipment Maintenance to Cell Phones; 

Moved $5,000 from Salaries (Overtime) to ZMC Maintenance. 

Public Works - Operations: 

Moved $5,000 from Salaries (Overtime) to Equipment Maintenance; 

Moved $5,000 from Snow & Ice Materials & Supplies to Fuel Expense. 

Public Works - Stormwater: 

Moved $2,000 from Professional Services to Materials & Supplies. 

 

Town Manager Todd, Jr. shared his thoughts on the Town's core values, which were developed 

as part of the strategic plan in 2018. He expressed his goal to return to a place where these 

values truly define the town's identity and operations. Mr. Todd reviewed the core values and 

their meanings: 

● Honesty and integrity 

● Family (meaning dependence on each other) 

● Respect 

● Dependability (showing up on time) 

● Teamwork (achieving group goals) 

 

Commissioner Clark expressed a desire to move forward with the interviews for the Town 

Clerk position and set a date for those interviews. 

 

Town Clerk Lisa Markland explained that a date had not been set because not all Board 

Members could be present. She mentioned the need to check with the applicants, as they were 

employed elsewhere and their availability would need to be considered. 

 

Commissioner Harrison asked if additional meeting dates could be obtained. 

 

Lisa Markland reiterated that she would need to contact the applicants to determine their 

availability, considering their current job schedules and meetings. 

 

Commissioner Davis stated her willingness to waive her right to be present if it would allow 

the interview to be scheduled for January 20, 2025. 

 

Lisa Markland confirmed that she would reach out to the applicants and attempt to schedule 

interviews for January 20, 2025. 

 

 

Board Comments 

7



Board of Commissioners 

Minutes 

January 6, 2025 

 

Commissioner Davis wished everyone a Happy New Year. 

 

Commissioner Clark encouraged everyone to continue coming to meetings. 

 

Commissioner Baxter welcomed Town Manager Todd and all the other new employees. She 

spoke about Bee City USA, the Sustainability Board, Tree City USA and the MLK event. 

 

Commissioner Miles welcomed Town Manager Todd. He thanked Interim Town Manager 

Taiwo Jaiyeoba for his work as the Interim Town Manager. 

 

Commissioner Harrison welcomed Town Manager Todd. She also thanked Tai Jaiyeoba for 

serving as the Interim Town Manager and all those sharing their comments with the Board of 

Commissioners. 

 

Mayor York requested a volunteer to serve as the alternate on the CAMPO Board. 

Commissioner Davis stated she would be willing to serve in that capacity. Mayor York stated 

that Preservation Zebulon had received a NC Humanities grant for 2025. Mayor York thanked 

Interim Town Manager Taiwo Jaiyeoba for his service to the Town. Town Manager Todd was 

welcomed as the new Town Manager. Former Police Chief Jacqui Boykin was thanked for all 

she had done for the Town of Zebulon. Finally, Mayor York stated that historic markers were 

placed at the Rosenwald School/James E. Shepard School/Zebulon Elementary and Mt. Pisgah 

Prince Hall Lodge #65. 

 

Commissioner Harrison asked for an update on the Youth Advisory Council. Manager Todd 

read shared information from Sheila Long stating that they were seeking engagement with the 

teens to determine what it is they wanted. The plan would be to get things moving forward in 

February 2025. 

 

Adjourn 
Commissioner Harrison made a motion, second by Commissioner Miles to adjourn the 

meeting. There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

 

Adopted this the 7th day of July 2025 

 

 

 

       _______________________________ 

       Glenn L. York – Mayor 

 

  SEAL 

 

 

       _________________________________ 

       Ana Gomez Rindahl – Town Clerk 

8



Zebulon Board of Commissioners  

Work Session 

Meeting Minutes 

January 16, 2025 

Present: Mayor Glenn York, Jessica Harrison, Beverly Clark, Shannon Baxter, Amber Davis, 

Quentin Miles, Gilbert Todd, Jr. - Manager, Kellianne Williams - Asst. Town Manager, Lisa 

Markland - Town Clerk, Bobby Fitts - Finance, Kaleb Harmon - Communications, Bob 

Grossman - Police, Tonya Easterwood – IT, Eric Vernon – Attorney 

 

Mayor York called the meeting to order. 

Approval Of Agenda 

Commissioner Baxter made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Harrison, to approve the 

agenda. There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

Old Business 

Administration 

Budget Amendments Administration  
Lisa Markland, the Town Clerk, stated that at the last meeting, two budget amendments for 

administration were tabled. 

Professional Services - Ordinance 2025-18  

Lisa Markland explained that the professional services ordinance was associated with the hiring 

of recruiting firms to search for a Planning Director and Town Manager. It also included funds 

for Developmental Associates to conduct the Police Chief search. The total cost for these 

services was $52,000. 

Commissioner Baxter made a motion, second by Commissioner Clark to approve Ordinance 

2025-18. There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

Advertising – Ordinance 2025-19  

Lisa Markland stated that the second budget amendment was for the advertising budget for 

vacant positions, amounting to $26,000. 

Commissioner Baxter made a motion, second by Commissioner Harrison to approve Ordinance 

2025-19. There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

Information Technology 

Budget Amendments IT  
Technology Projects - Ordinance 2025-20  

Tonya Easterwood, the IT Director, explained that Ordinance 2025-20 was needed to allocate 

funding for upgrades at the fire station and to install fiber at the Public Works facility to address 

connectivity issues at that location. 

9



Board of Commissioners 

Work Session Minutes 

January 16, 2025 

 

Commissioner Miles made a motion, second by Commissioner Baxter to approve Ordinance 

2025-20. There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

General 

Strategic Plan Grant  
Assistant Town Manager Williams provided an overview of the process that had been ongoing 

since September 2024. She addressed several questions that had arisen: 

● Why insurance was needed and why the Town of Zebulon was included as an additional 

insured: Williams explained that insurance was a standard practice for any nonprofit 

receiving funding from the Town. It would protect the Town from any liability that 

could impact the Town for work done by the nonprofit. 

● Who would be on the Grant Committee and what they would do: Williams stated that 

the committee would prescreen the applications. The members would be selected by 

the Board. It would be a third-party prescreen and then make a recommendation to the 

Board. 

● Quarterly reports and reporting out: Williams explained that these reports would be sent 

to the finance department, which would review how the funds were being spent. 

Commissioner Baxter expressed concern about the need for verbiage regarding committee 

members being associated with organizations applying for grants. This led to a discussion about 

conflicts of interest for people serving on both a non-profit board and the committee 

simultaneously. 

Eric Vernon, the Town Attorney, explained that statutorily, if someone was a member of an 

organization's board, they would have to recuse themselves from voting. 

There was further discussion on the new committee, including how members would be selected 

and when. 

Commissioner Harrison made a motion, second by Commissioner Baxter to approve the 

Strategic Plan Grant Policy.  There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

CLOSED SESSION 

Commissioner Harrison made a motion, second by Commissioner Clark to go into closed 

session for the purpose of consulting with the attorney on Deacon Development LLC. v. Town 

of Zebulon.  There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

Mayor York declared a five minute recess. 

NOTE: In closed session Commissioner Miles made a motion, second by Commissioner 

Harrison to come out of closed session there was no discussion, and the motion passed 

unanimously. 

 

 

10



Board of Commissioners 

Work Session Minutes 

January 16, 2025 

 

Adjourn 

Commissioner Baxter made a motion, second by Commissioner Harrison to adjourn.  There 

was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

Adopted this the 7th day of July, 2025 

 

       _________________________________ 

       Glenn L. York – Town Mayor 

 

  SEAL 

 

       _________________________________ 

       Ana Gomez Rindahl – Town Clerk 

11



12



Zebulon Board of Commissioners  
Meeting Minutes 
February 3, 2025 

 

Present: Mayor Glenn York, Jessica Harrison, Beverly Clark, Shannon Baxter, Amber Davis, 

Quentin Miles, Gilbert Todd, Jr.-Manager, Kellianne Williams-Asst. Town Manager, Lisa 

Markland-Town Clerk, Bobby Fitts-Finance, Sheila Long-Parks & Recreation, Kaleb Harmon-

Communications, Bob Grossman-Police, Eric Vernon – Attorney 

 

Mayor York called the meeting to order. 

 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
Commissioner Baxter lead the pledge of allegiance 

 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
Mayor York requested that the agenda be amended to add a closed session for personnel 

discussions.  

 

Commissioner Baxter made a motion, second by Commissioner Harrison to approve the agenda 

as amended.  There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

PROCLAMATION 
Mayor York read a proclamation for Black History Month. 

 

SCHOOL RECOGNITION 
Mayor York stated that the student and teacher from Wakelon Elementary were not present so 

that would be done later in the meeting. 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
Ofie McCoy addressed the board about the annual migration of Monarch butterflies through 

Zebulon. She explained that hundreds of thousands of Monarchs travel from Mexico to Canada 

in the spring, passing over Zebulon on their journey. McCoy described the Monarchs' 

distinctive appearance and their unique migration pattern, noting that it takes three generations 

of butterflies to complete the journey from Mexico to Canada. McCoy expressed concern about 

the declining Monarch population due to habitat loss from herbicides and frequent mowing. 

She emphasized the importance of Monarch butterfly waystations, which provide necessary 

resources for the butterflies to produce successive generations and sustain their migration. 

McCoy requested that Zebulon consider establishing a Monarch Butterfly Waystation. She 

suggested this could be done on existing gardens or on an empty lot owned by the town, 

specifically mentioning the lot at the corner of Poplar and Vance as a potential location for a 

flower garden with milkweed. She explained that establishing a waystation requires a simple 

application to the MAR Watch Organization and a fee of $18. The milkweed planting 

requirements involve a 10 by 10 protected area. 

 

 

 

 

13



Board of Commissioners 

Minutes 

February 3, 2025 

 

  

CONSENT AGENDA 
 

Commissioner Clark made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Baxter, to approve the 

minutes for November 4, 2024. There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously.  

 

Commissioner Clark made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Baxter, to approve the 

minutes for November 21, 2024. There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously.  

 

Commissioner Clark made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Baxter, to approve the Wake 

County Tax Report for November 2024. There was no discussion, and the motion passed 

unanimously.  

 

Commissioner Clark made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Baxter, to approved 

Ordinance 2025-23. There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously.  

 

Commissioner Clark made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Baxter, to approve 

Resolution 2025-09. There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously.  

 

Commissioner Clark made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Baxter, to approve 

Resolution 2025-10. There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously.  

 

NEW BUSINESS 

 

Public Works 

Traffic Signal Project – Construction Bid Award – Ordinance 2025-24 
Mary Duffy gave a presentation on the Traffic Signal Project and the bidding process. She 

reported that six bids were received, with Cardinal being the lowest bidder at $2,572,881. Duffy 

explained that the project is funded by Transportation Impact fees and Autumn Lakes fees in 

lieu. She detailed additional costs for the project beyond construction, including geotechnical 

work, architecture, inspections, and contingency, bringing the total project cost to $3.92 

million. This created a shortfall of $610,792. There were several options presented to the Board 

that they could choose to adopt. 

 

Staff recommended approval of Ordinance 2025-24 Option 1 and awarding the bid to Cardinal 

Contracting. 

 

Commissioner Baxter made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Harrison, to approve 

Ordinance 2025-24 Option 1. There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously.    

 

Commissioner Harrison made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Baxter, to award the 

contract to Cardinal. There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously.  

 

ADMINISTRATION 

 

Board Appointments 
Lisa Markland provided a summary of Board Appointments, noting vacancies on the Planning 

Board and the Sustainability Board. She mentioned that applicants were informed they could 

speak about why they wanted to serve on a specific board. 

14



Board of Commissioners 

Minutes 

February 3, 2025 

 

  

 

Mayor York stated that he had received a letter from Gina Bryant for the Sustainability Board, 

as she was unable to attend. The letter was read aloud. 

 

Marvin Howell came forward and stated his reasons for wanting to be a part of the 

Sustainability Board. 

 

MaryBeth Carpenter also came forward and explained why she wanted to join the 

Sustainability Board. 

 

Commissioner Miles thanked everyone who spoke and submitted applications for 

appointments. He suggested waiting to make appointments to allow additional people the 

opportunity to apply, mentioning upcoming events where citizens could learn about the 

opportunity to serve on a board and submit applications. 

 

Mayor York stated that it was the second time that the appointments had been delayed and did 

not think that waiting any longer would make a difference. 

 

Commissioner Clark said that she would like to move forward with the Planning Board 

appointment and appoint David Hughes. 

 

Commissioner Harrison stated it was a disservice to those that attended the meeting tonight 

and expressed why they wanted to serve on the appointed boards. 

 

There was additional discussion on tabling the board appointments. 

 

Commissioner Miles made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Baxter, to table appointments 

to the various boards until the March 20th work session. There was no discussion, and the 

motion passed with a vote of 3-2, with Commissioners Baxter, Miles, and Davis voting in 

favor, and Commissioners Harrison and Clark voting in opposition.  

 

BOARD COMMENTS 
Commissioner Miles thanked those who attended the meeting and spoke. 

 

Mayor York thanked Chris Ray for his years of service to the Town of Zebulon and wished 

him well in his retirement. He announced that there would not be a work session on February 

20th. Mayor York also stated that Tim Owens would be the Interim Public Works Director. 

 

Tim Owens introduced himself and provided his background. 

 

SCHOOL RECOGNITION 
 

Wakelon Elementary School 

Mayor York recognized Silvia Guiterrez Leyva the student and Patrice Williams the teacher 

from the Wakelon Elementary School. 

 

Mayor York recognized Planning Director Matt Lower for the Fellows award and mentioned 

that he would be at the Chamber event of Coffee with the Mayor on Wednesday. Muter 

15



Board of Commissioners 

Minutes 

February 3, 2025 

 

  

Construction was recognized for receiving the Pinnacle Award for the renovation of the State 

Capital building. Finally, he announced that Talk of the Town would be on February 27. 

 

 

MANAGER'S REPORT 

Bobby Fitts reported on budget transfers that had been made during the month. 

 

Public Works - Property & Project Management: 

Moved $5,000 from Part-time Salaries to Community Center Maintenance; 

Moved $1,500 from Salaries (Overtime) to Vehicle Maintenance; 

 

Parks & Recreation: 

Moved $5,000 from Salaries to Salaries (Overtime); 

Moved $5,000 from Field Rake to Grounds Maintenance; 

Moved $800 from Community Center Programs to Insurance & Bonds; 

Moved $5,000 from Part-time Salaries (Programs/Events) to Part-time Salaries (Admin) 

 

CLOSED SESSION 

Commissioner Harrison made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Baxter, to go into closed 

session as allowed by NC GS 413-318(a) for the purpose of personnel discussion. There was 

no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously.  

 

NOTE: In closed session, Commissioner Davis made a motion, second by Commissioner Miles 

to come out of closed session. There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

ADJOURN 

Commissioner Harrison made a motion, second by Commissioner Baxter to adjourn.  There 

was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

Adopted this the 7th day of July, 2025 

 

 

 

       _________________________________ 

       Glenn L. York – Mayor 

 

  SEAL 

 

       _________________________________ 

       Ana Gomez Rindahl – Town Clerk 

16



Zebulon Board of Commissioners  
Work Session 

Meeting Minutes 

February 24, 2025 
 
 

Present: Mayor Glenn York, Jessica Harrison, Beverly Clark, Shannon Baxter, Amber Davis, 

Quentin Miles, Gilbert Todd, Jr.-Manager, Lisa Markland-Town Clerk, Kellianne Williams-

Asst. Town Manager, Bob Grossman-Police, Sheila Long-Parks & Recreation, Sam Slater-

Attorney 
 

 

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 
Commissioner Miles requested to add the Community Garden topic for discussion.  

 

Commissioner Baxter made a motion, second by Commissioner Davis to adopt the agenda as 

amended.  There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

 

Budget And Retreat Planning Discussion 
Town Manager Todd presented five questions to the Board regarding the budget process and 

asked each commissioner to provide their thoughts. 

 

1.  What aspects of past budget processes have been most effective? 

 

• Hearing from department directors and their priorities 

• Seeing both the requested department budgets and the Manager’s recommended 

budgets 

• Department directors to present at work sessions what they are asking for and 

why 

• Incorporate and present alternative funding sources 

• Budget presented in sections and not all at one time 

• Incorporate alignment of Strategic Plan with department requests when 

presenting 

• One on one discussions with the department directors as needed 

 

There was discussion about strategic goals and the Strategic Plan and how the budget process 

worked with those documents and desires. 

 

2. Where do you see the greatest opportunities for improvement in the budget process, 

and what specific changes would you suggest? 

 

• Earlier involvement of the Board in the budget process 

• More community engagement and input 

• Increased work sessions on specific budget topics  

• Information on potential grant funding for projects 

17



Board of Commissioners 

Work Session Minutes 

February 24, 2025 

 

• Presenting fewer departments per work session 

• Ensuring staff input is incorporated 

 

3. How should the budget reflect our strategic goals and the community’s priorities? 

 

• Hosting town halls for citizen input 

• Revisiting and updating strategic goals 

• Conducting community surveys  

• Ensuring inclusivity and diverse representation 

• Exploring multiple avenues for citizen feedback 

 

4. How can staff best support the Board during the budget process to ensure informed 

decision making? 

 

● Breaking down information into smaller increments 

● One-on-one meetings with department heads as needed 

● Additional meetings to improve the process 

● More information 

● Why departments want what they are asking for 

● One on one meetings with Manager 

● Better communication from Manager  

● Two-way communication between staff and board 

● Updates on past budget spending and project timelines 

● Budget should meet the needs of the community 

 

5. Do you agree that the upcoming budget retreat should focus on identifying the Boards 

top budget priorities for the next fiscal year? 

 

The Board expressed interest in having separate retreats - one for visioning/team building and 

another specifically for budget priorities. 

 

 

MANAGER’S REPORT 

 

Strategic Plan Grant Updates 
 

Assistant Town Manager Kellianne Williams provided an update on the strategic plan grant. 

She informed the Board that the grant application was now live, and a promotion campaign 

would begin soon. The grant would also be mentioned at the upcoming Talk with the Town 

event. 

 

Mrs. Williams directed the Board's attention to page 5 of the new grant policy, which outlined 

the new grant timeline. She explained that a new email address (clerk@townofzebulon.org) 

had been set up for grant-related inquiries, and that while the clerk would normally handle the 

process in conjunction with the finance department, Parks and Recreation may assist due to 

extended leave in the finance department. 

 

18



Board of Commissioners 

Work Session Minutes 

February 24, 2025 

 

Mrs. Williams reminded the Board that each commissioner would have the opportunity to 

appoint a committee member for the grant review process, and she would follow up with the 

Board, via email, to get that information. She emphasized that the process allowed for direct 

representation in the review process and ensured multiple levels of vetting before 

recommendations come before the Board. 

 

GENERAL 

 

Community Garden Discussion 

Commissioner Miles initiated a discussion about implementing a community garden in 

Zebulon. He expressed a desire to start the conversation and get feedback from fellow 

commissioners on what a community garden might look like for the town. Commissioner Miles 

emphasized that the project should be community-driven with minimal staff involvement. 

 

Commissioner Baxter suggested that the Sustainability Board should be tasked with this 

project. She noted that site selection, creating parameters and rules, and determining the 

application process should be part of their responsibilities. 

 

There was discussion about the need to survey the community to ensure there was interest and 

support for a community garden. Town Manager Todd confirmed that a question about 

prioritizing a community garden was included in an upcoming budget survey. 

 

After some debate, the Board reached a consensus to task the Sustainability Board with 

developing a plan for a community garden. They agreed that as the Sustainability Board 

requested information from staff, it will be provided. The Board also decided to mention the 

community garden initiative at the upcoming Talk with the Town event on February 27th and 

inform citizens about the opportunity to apply for the Sustainability Board. 

 

Lisa Markland, Town Clerk, asked for a moment of the Board’s time. Lisa Markland 

announced her retirement effective April 1st, with her last day being March 21st. She thanked 

the Town of Zebulon for the opportunity to serve the community and citizens for nearly 27 

years, expressing that it has been an honor and privilege to serve the citizens and employees of 

the community. She stated that almost all of her 27 years with the Town had been great but 

2025 had not been and that was the reason for her retirement. 

 

CLOSED SESSION 

Commissioner Baxter made a motion, to go into closed session as allowed per NC General 

Statue § 143-318.11 for the purposes of Personnel discussions, Economic Development, and 

Property Acquisition. There was no discussion, and the motion was approved by consensus. 

 

Mayor York declared a 5-minute recess. 

 

 

NOTE: In closed session, Commissioner Davis made a motion, second by Commissioner 

Harrison to come out of closed session. 

 

 

 

 

19



Board of Commissioners 

Work Session Minutes 

February 24, 2025 

 

 

ADJOURN 

Commissioner Harrison made a motion, second by Commissioner Baxter to adjourn. There 

was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

Adopted this the 7th day of July, 2025 

 

 

       _______________________________ 

       Glenn L. York – Mayor 

 

 SEAL      

 

       _________________________________ 

       Ana Gomez Rindahl – Town Clerk 

20



Zebulon Board of Commissioners 
Meeting Minutes 

March 3, 2025 

 
Present: Mayor Glenn York, Jessica Harrison, Beverly Clark, Shannon Baxter, Amber Davis, 

Quentin Miles, Gilbert Todd, Jr.-Manager, Kellianne Williams-Asst. Town Manager, Lisa 

Markland-Town Clerk, Bobby Fitts-Finance, Sheila Long-Parks & Recreation, Cate Farrell-

Planning, Bob Grossman - Police, Sam Slater – Attorney 

 

Mayor York called the meeting to order. 

 

PLEDGE OF ALLIEGANCE  
Commissioner Baxter led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 
Commissioner Baxter requested two amendments to the agenda: 

● Pull Ordinance 2025-25 (UDO text amendments on regional mixed use) and table it 

until March 20th to allow staff time to address questions. 

● Pull from new business the staffing addition in administration and asked staff to 

incorporate it into the 2026 budget cycle. 

 

Commissioner Baxter made a motion, second by Commissioner Miles to approve the 

amended agenda.  There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

  

SCHOOL RECOGNITION 

Zebulon Elementary School 
Mayor York stated that student Alex Hancock could not be present. Mayor York recognized 

teacher Alicia Gregory, both from Zebulon Elementary School.  

 

PROCLAMATION 
Mayor York read a proclamation recognizing the Zebulon Elementary School Science 

Olympiad team. The proclamation highlighted the importance of science education and 

celebrated the team's sixth place finish. Elizabeth Baker was also recognized for her guidance 

and support in leading the students. 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
Scott Carpenter spoke about the February 27th  Talk of the Town event. He expressed that while 

there were some helpful moments, the community wanted more dialogue with the Town rather 

than just talk. He stated that citizens submitted 70 questions at the event plus 14 questions 

beforehand, but only four questions were addressed. Mr. Carpenter requested copies of all 

questions submitted for the February 27th meeting, as well as communication between staff and 

elected officials about handling public comments from that meeting. 

 

Daniqua Stansell spoke on behalf of Wake Enterprise's SPARK program. She explained that 

SPARK is a grant program working with youth and adults with intellectual or developmental 

disabilities to find customized employment opportunities. The program encompasses a benefits 

counselor, job coach and care navigator to ensure clients are work ready. Ms. Stansell stated 

21



Board of Commissioners 

Minutes 

March 3, 2025 

 

they are looking to partner with small businesses to create opportunities for their clients to 

grow. 

 

CONSENT 
Commissioner Baxter made a motion, second by Commissioner Clark to approve the minutes 

for December 2, 2024. There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously.  

 

PRESENTATIONS 

Smart Cities Presentations – Morrisville Commissioner Steve Rao 
Commissioner Steve Rao from Morrisville presented on smart cities initiatives. He explained 

that smart cities leverage technology, data and innovation to enhance quality of services, reduce 

costs, and improve quality of life for residents. He provided examples from Morrisville, such 

as sensors on sports fields to notify staff and residents of flooding, and visibility into facility 

usage for tennis courts and swimming lanes. 

 

Rao highlighted Morrisville's smart city task force that brought in technology leaders and 

worked with departments to identify opportunities. He mentioned they are using AI for 

improved document searchability and have developed a chatbot called "Morris the Cricket" to 

answer basic resident questions. 

 

Rao emphasized the importance of broadband expansion to enable smart city technologies. He 

suggested Zebulon could create jobs and spur innovation by working with organizations like 

RIOT that connect startups with towns to solve municipal problems. 

 

Rao recommended next steps for Zebulon, including: 

● Creating a Wake County Smart City Task Force to share best practices 

● Forming an AI task force to explore uses in local government  

● Identifying quick win pilot programs 

● Establishing digital access hubs 

 

He noted that leveraging technology could create a more connected, efficient and sustainable 

future for Zebulon residents. 

 

Commissioner Baxter thanked Rao for his presentation and agreed it is important for Zebulon 

to consider how to make the town more accessible and utilize AI safely. She emphasized the 

importance of expanding broadband access in eastern Wake County. 

 

Parks & Recreation Advisory Board Update – Quinton Taylor and Brandon 

Wiggins 
Brandon Wiggins, Chair of the Parks and Recreation Advisory Board, and Quinton Taylor, 

Vice Chair, presented an update on recent Parks and Recreation successes and priorities. 

 

They highlighted significant growth in Parks and Recreation programs from FY2023 to 

FY2024: 

● 18% growth in summer camps 

● 41% growth in athletics   

● 36% increase in program attendance 

● 4% increase in event attendance 

● 12% increase in programs offered 

22



Board of Commissioners 

Minutes 

March 3, 2025 

 

● 10% increase in events offered 

● 31% increase in rentals 

 

For the FY2026 budget, the Advisory Board identified two priority areas: 

● Land acquisition  

● Increased staffing for programs and maintenance 

 

Wiggins explained that while Zebulon currently has 167.8 acres of parkland, population growth 

will quickly outpace this. He emphasized the need to acquire land now before it is developed 

for other purposes. Benefits of land acquisition include protecting natural resources, ensuring 

green space access for future generations, and providing space for new recreation facilities. 

 

For staffing, Wiggins noted recent hires of a general programmer and athletics coordinator will 

enhance programs. He stated additional maintenance staff are needed, especially during peak 

seasons, to keep facilities in good condition and avoid expensive contracted work. 

 

Commissioner Baxter expressed excitement about moving forward with the Little River master 

plan. The presenters thanked the Board for their support and commitment to Parks and 

Recreation in Zebulon. 

 

OLD BUSINESS 

Planning 

Annexation Little River Park – Ordinance 2025-26 
Cate Farrell presented on the proposed annexation of Little River Park. She explained the 

property is outside Zebulon's ETJ and consists of two parcels totaling 22.23 acres at 1800 West 

Gannon Avenue and 1228 Water Plant Road.  

 

Ms. Farrell outlined the annexation standards from the UDO, including owner approval, ability 

to provide services, any outstanding debt obligations, and impact on public 

health/safety/welfare. 

 

Public Hearing  
Mayor York opened the public hearing.  

 

Mayor York asked for anyone wishing to speak in favor.  There were none. 

 

Mayor York asked for anyone who wished to speak in opposition.  There were none. 

 

Mayor York asked for anyone who wished to speak neither for nor against but just had 

comments. 

 

Dr. Don Crohn spoke, asking about the goals and benefits of the annexation for Zebulon 

citizens.  

 

No other public comments were made. 

 

Mayor York declared the public hearing closed. 

 

23



Board of Commissioners 

Minutes 

March 3, 2025 

 

Commissioner Harrison made a motion, second by Commissioner Clark to approve Ordinance 

2025-26 

 

Mayor York asked if there was discussion.  

 

Commissioner Baxter explained that annexation is necessary to move forward with the Parks 

and Recreation master plan and Little River master plan. She noted it would allow for legal 

improvements to the property and connection to City of Raleigh water. 

 

Parks and Recreation Director Sheila Long clarified that annexation would allow the Town to 

follow Zebulon's development standards rather than Wake County's. She stated there would be 

little change in services since it is already a town park. 

 

There was no further discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

Ordinance 2025-27 – Little River Park Rezoning 
Cate Farrell presented on the proposed rezoning of the newly annexed Little River Park 

property. She explained this would assign zoning to allow for proper development and public 

utilities at the park. The proposed zoning was Residential Suburban (R2). 

 

Cate outlined the standards for consideration, including public health/safety/welfare impacts, 

appropriateness for the location, and reasonableness in the public interest. She noted the 

Planning Board recommended approval as did staff. 

 

Commissioner Baxter expressed excitement about moving forward with the Little River master 

plan. 

 

Commissioner Miles made a motion, second by Commissioner Baxter to approve Ordinance 

2025-27 for rezoning of 1800 West Gannon Avenue and 1228 Water Plant Road to R2, finding 

it consistent with the comprehensive land use plan and that standards of Section 2.2.25.J have 

been met. There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously in a roll call vote.  

 

MANAGER’S REPORT 
Town Manager Todd thanked the Board for attending the recent Talk of the Town event. He 

stated it was a great opportunity to interact with residents and get their perspectives. Manager 

Todd said they were working through all questions submitted and would post answers on the 

Town website. He emphasized transparency, accountability and communication as priorities. 

 

BOARD COMMENTS 
Commissioner Davis announced an upcoming event on March 15th for the Elijah J. Hawkins 

Manor Foundation. The foundation would be collecting donations at Share Thrift Boutique in 

partnership with a local radio station. Davis encouraged support for this Zebulon-based 

organization that focuses on academic achievement, community outreach, mentorship and 

benevolence. 

 

Commissioner Clark requested moving the March work session from the 20th to the 27th due to 

a conflict. After discussion, no alternative date was identified. Clark also inquired about the 

status of several open positions, including Police Chief, Public Works Director, HR Director 

and Clerk. The Town Manager provided updates on recruitment efforts for these roles. 

24



Board of Commissioners 

Minutes 

March 3, 2025 

 

 

Commissioner Baxter reported on her recent attendance at the Town and State dinner in 

Raleigh. She highlighted concerns about House Bill 173, which would prohibit further 

expansion of extraterritorial jurisdiction for Wake County municipalities. Baxter explained this 

could be damaging to Zebulon's operations and hurt current and future residents. 

 

Commissioner Baxter also mentioned her upcoming trip to Washington D.C. to speak with 

federal legislators on behalf of Zebulon. Finally, she recognized Women’s History Month. 

 

Mayor York thanked staff who assisted with the Black History Month program at the 

community center. He specifically recognized Mr. Desi Campbell for his work on genealogy 

and ancestry.  

 

MayorYork also thanked local schools for inviting him to read to students for Black History 

Month. He expressed appreciation for the first Talk with the Town event and hoped to continue 

engaging citizens through similar programs. 

 

CLOSED SESSION 
Commissioner Baxter made a motion, second by Commissioner Miles to go into closed session 

for personnel discussions as allowed by NC GS 143-318(a). There was no discussion, and the 

motion passed unanimously.  

 

Mayor York called for a five minute recess. 

 

NOTE: In closed Session Commissioner Harrison made a motion, second by Commissioner 

Davis to come out of closed session.  There was no discussion, and the motion passed 

unanimously. 

 

ADJOURN 
Commissioner Baxter made a motion, second by Commissioner Miles to adjourn. There was 

no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

Adopted this the 7th day of July, 2025 

 

 

 

       _________________________________ 

       Glenn L. York – Mayor 

 

 SEAL 

 

       _________________________________ 

       Ana Gomez Rindahl – Town Clerk 

25



26



Zebulon Board of Commissioners  
Work Session 

Meeting Minutes 

March 20, 2025 
 

 

Present: Mayor Glenn York, Jessica Harrison, Shannon Baxter, Quentin Miles, Gilbert Todd, 

Jr.-Manager, Lisa Markland-Town Clerk, Kellianne Williams-Asst. Town Manager, Bob 

Grossman-Police, Chris Perry-Fire, Matt Lower-Planning, Sheila Long-Parks & Recreation, 

Eric Vernon-Attorney 

 

Absent: Commissioners Beverly Clark and Amber Davis 

 

Mayor York called the meeting to order. 

 

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 
Mayor York asked to amend the agenda to remove the closed session scheduled and to add an 

update on the Town Clerk position. 

 

Commissioner Harrison made a motion, second by Commissioner Miles to approve the agenda 

and amended. 

 

OLD BUSINESS 

 

Fire/EMS Station - Appointment of Special Counsel 
Chief Perry provided an update on the Fire/EMS station project. He reminded the board that 

they had previously authorized an agreement with Wake County to develop the design and 

construction documents. The project was nearing the point where bids would be ready and a 

decision to start the project would need to be made. 

  

Chief Perry noted that the project had just completed the 50% construction drawing stage and 

final tweaks were being made. He explained to the Board that there were four different funding 

sources for the project: the Town of Zebulon, Wake County General Fund, Wake County Fire 

Tax funding, and United States Department of Agricultural grant funds. 

 

To manage the financial aspects of the project, Chief Perry introduced Clay Richards from 

Davenport Public Finance to discuss the next steps over the coming months. 

 

Clay Richards presented a brief project overview and key next steps in the financing process. 

He stated that the Town was expecting to have the guaranteed maximum price (GMP) in early 

June. Current estimates for the project were around $17,300,000. The Town had received a 

$7,500,000 grant from USDA, leaving approximately $10,000,000 as the local funding 

requirement. Mr. Richards explained that the allocation of funding between the Town and 

county would be memorialized through an interlocal agreement. It was anticipated that the 

Town would be responsible for 51% of the local funding requirement, with the county 

responsible for the remaining 49%. 

 

27



Board of Commissioners 

Work Session Minutes 

March 20, 2025 

 

To fund the Town's portion, a direct bank loan installment financing was being considered. 

That would require Local Government Commission (LGC) approval. Mr. Richards noted that 

the LGC was aware of the project and no concerns regarding approval had been raised at that 

time. A preliminary financing schedule was presented, which revolved around the final GMP 

being received by the Town on June 2nd. That aligned with the LGC application deadline of 

June 3rd. The LGC approval was expected on July 1st, with closing anticipated in mid-July. 

Prior to closing, it was explained that several approvals would be needed from the Board. On 

June 2nd, the Board would be asked to approve the winning bank lender, adopt a preliminary 

findings resolution, and hold a public hearing on the financing. On July 7th, the Board would 

be asked to approve the final resolution. 

 

Mr. Richards outlined several key steps in the process, including coordinating with USDA on 

grant requirements, conducting debt affordability analysis, holding an LGC pre-application 

call, finalizing the interlocal agreement with Wake County, and completing the facility design 

and project bidding. 

 

Commissioner Baxter asked about Wake County's role as a lender. Chief Perry clarified that 

Wake County had initially discussed lending the money but had since retracted that offer. He 

added that the Bobby Fitts believed they might get a better rate commercially than what Wake 

County had initially offered.  

 

Commissioner Baxter sought clarification on the timing of receiving bank proposals and when 

the Board would have access to review them. Mr. Richards explained that bank proposals were 

expected back in mid-May, and the Board would see them at the June 2nd  meeting. 

 

Commissioner Baxter also inquired about the impact of the bond referendum not passing on 

the Town's credit rating. The Board was assured that for a direct bank loan, the banks would 

not consider the Town's credit rating. 

 

Chief Perry emphasized the aggressive nature of the schedule, explaining that most pricing 

guarantees from contractors were only valid for about 90 days. That necessitated completing 

all steps outlined by Mr. Richards and awarding contracts within that time frame to guarantee 

prices. 

 

Chief Perry then introduced Paul Jacobson from Sands Anderson to discuss the legal 

components of the project. 

 

Paul Jacobson, accompanied by his colleague Ashley Anderson, explained their role as bond 

counsel or special counsel for the installment financing. He detailed the importance of 

complying with both state law requirements for borrowing and federal law requirements for 

tax-exempt treatment of interest on the debt. 

 

Mr. Jacobson outlined the services Sands Anderson would provide, including discussions with 

the Local Government Commission staff, drafting necessary resolutions and agreements, 

coordinating publication of public hearing notices, and working with the bank and their counsel 

to negotiate terms. 

 

Commissioner Baxter asked about the potential impact if EMS services were to be privatized 

in the future. Jacobson explained that there were ways to structure agreements to preserve tax 

28



Board of Commissioners 

Work Session Minutes 

March 20, 2025 

 

exemption if a private party were to provide services, but it would need to comply with specific 

requirements in the tax regulations. 

The Board discussed the need for two motions: one to appoint Sands Anderson as special 

counsel and another to authorize appropriate town representatives to sign the agreement. 

 

Commissioner Baxter made a motion, second by Commissioner Miles to appoint Sands 

Anderson as the special counsel for the Fire/EMS project. There was no discussion, and the 

motion passed unanimously. 

    

UDO TEXT AMENDMENTS - Ordinance 2025-25 
Planning Director Lower presented on the Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) text 

amendment for a regional mixed-use district. He reminded the board of the specific standards 

that should be applied when considering a text amendment, as outlined in the UDO. 

 

Mr. Lower explained that the amendment was proposed because Zebulon is growing, and the 

comprehensive plan requires staff to plan for the entire future growth area, which includes 

approximately 10,000 acres of parcels 5 acres or larger. He emphasized the need to consider 

various types of development, including rural, suburban, and urban. 

 

Matt presented examples of regional mixed-use developments from other areas, highlighting 

that such developments are not currently permissible by right in Zebulon. He noted that other 

municipalities in the region, including Morrisville, Clayton, and Burlington, have already 

enabled regional mixed-use development to occur by right. 

 

The proposed amendment included dimension standards similar to downtown mixed-use, with 

the addition of a master plan requirement. Lower explained that this requirement was included 

due to the potential significant impact of these developments. 

 

Matt detailed changes made to the amendment since the January 13th public hearing, including 

clarifications on stormwater retention facilities, adjustments to the table of permitted uses, and 

updates to utility standards. 

 

The Board engaged in extensive discussion about various aspects of the proposed amendment: 

● Commissioner Baxter raised concerns about specific uses permitted in the regional 

mixed-use zone, such as blood and tissue collection sites, outdoor display sales, 

campgrounds, games of skill, pawn shops, and RV parks. The rational was explained 

behind including these uses and noted that the board could choose to remove or modify 

them if desired. 

● The Board discussed building height restrictions, setbacks, and the transition from 

higher-density areas to residential zones. Mr. Lower explained that the amendment 

included specific distance requirements that triggered decreases in building height near 

residential districts. 

● Parking requirements were debated, with Commissioner Baxter expressing concern 

about potential inadequate parking in mixed-use developments. Matt stated that the lack 

of minimum parking requirements was intended to allow market forces to determine 

appropriate parking levels, but he acknowledged that alternative approaches could be 

considered. 

● The Board discussed the open space requirements and the authority given to the 

planning department to adjust the number of residential units. Matt Lower explained 

29



Board of Commissioners 

Work Session Minutes 

March 20, 2025 

 

the rationale behind the 15% adjustment allowance but noted that the Board could 

modify this if desired. 

● Commissioner Baxter sought clarification on how the Board would maintain control 

over the design and character of regional mixed-use projects. Mr. Lower assured that 

the master plan requirement and existing mixed-use design standards would provide 

opportunities for board input and control. 

 

Throughout the discussion, Matt emphasized that the proposed amendment was based on best 

practices in urban planning and was designed to make Zebulon more competitive in attracting 

high-quality development. He also noted that the Planning Board had unanimously 

recommended approval of the amendment. 

 

Commissioner Baxter made a motion, second by Commissioner Miles to table this until the 

April 7th meeting so that the two commissioners who were not present would have the 

opportunity to review the recording from tonight's meeting and have the ability to vote on the 

amendments.  There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

TOWN CLERK UPDATE 
Mayor York provided an update on the clerk position. The interim candidate they had 

previously considered was unable to attend meetings due to existing commitments but was 

willing to prepare minutes from recordings.  

 

The Board discussed options for filling the position, including expanding the search and 

utilizing the services of Good Hope Works for recruitment. 

 

The Board agreed to have Good Hope Works continue handling the recruitment process, with 

the Town potentially assisting in broadening the reach of the job posting. They emphasized the 

need to make the job posting easily accessible on the Town's website and social media 

channels. 

 

Mayor York reminded the Board of a special called meeting on March 26th for the East Wake 

Local Government Association meeting at Wake Tech East, sponsored by Wendell. 

 

Commissioner Miles acknowledged that this would be Town Clerk Lisa Markland's last 

meeting after 27 years of service, expressing appreciation for her work. 

 

ADJOURN 
 

Commissioner Baxter made a motion, second by Commissioner Harrison to adjourn the 

meeting. There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

 

Adopted this the 7th day of July, 2025 

 

       _________________________________ 

       Glenn L. York – Mayor 

 

  SEAL 

 

30



Zebulon Board of Commissioners 
Meeting Minutes 

April 7, 2025 

 
Present: Mayor Glenn York, Jessica Harrison, Beverly Clark, Shannon Baxter, Amber Davis, 

Quentin Miles, Gilbert Todd, Jr.-Manager, Bobby Fitts-Finance, Sheila Long-Parks & 

Recreation, Bob Grossman - Police, Cate Farrell-Planning, Eric Vernon – Attorney 

 

Mayor York called the meeting to order. 

 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
The meeting was called to order and the Pledge of Allegiance was led by Chloe Brooks. 

 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
Commissioner Davis requested to remove from consent item B - Parks and Recreation property 

acquisition to new business item C. 

 

Commissioner Baxter made a motion, second by Commissioner Clark to approve the agenda 

as amended. There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

SCHOOL RECOGNITION 

Zebulon GT Magnet Middle School 
Mayor Glenn York recognized student Chloe Brooks from Zebulon Gifted and Talented 

Magnet Middle School and teacher Maryann Martin. 

 

MAYOR’S RECOGNITION 

Main Street Champion 
Mayor Glenn York announced that Patricia Robinson had been selected as Zebulon's first Main 

Street Champion. He highlighted Patricia's instrumental role in shaping the success of the 

downtown association's community programs, which led to Zebulon's acceptance into both the 

North Carolina Main Street community. The Mayor praised Patricia's passion and countless 

volunteer hours, noting they set a high standard for future honorees. He mentioned that Patricia 

was formally recognized at the 2025 North Carolina Main Street Conference on March 13th in 

the presence of her family and members of the Zebulon Main Street Board.  

 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

Jennifer Acevedo Holmes, founder, president, and CEO of Community Culture Celebrations 

(C3), addressed the Board. She requested town support, through fee reimbursements and shared 

services, for their upcoming Hispanic Heritage Festival. Holmes also suggested improvements 

to make town processes more accessible, including an email option for submitting applications 

and implementing consistent interpretation options for Spanish-speaking residents at public 

meetings. 

 

George Rao introduced himself as a resident of Zebulon and shared information about a new 

grassroots initiative called Zebulon en Español. He explained that the Facebook group's 

mission is to translate important town information into Spanish to keep Spanish-speaking 

31



Board of Commissioners 

Minutes 

April 7, 2025 

 

neighbors informed and connected. He encouraged the town to consider hiring a bilingual 

communications manager to support engagement and access for the growing Latino population 

in Zebulon. 

 

Ellar Baxter, a student from East Wake High School, presented a poem addressing social and 

political issues. The poem touched on themes of women's rights, American values, and the 

importance of speaking up for change. 

 

Tamesha Thomas introduced herself as a candidate for the sustainability committee. She shared 

her background from a small town in Alabama and her recent relocation to Weaver's Pond in 

Zebulon. Ms. Thomas expressed her desire to serve the community and help shape Zebulon's 

future. She emphasized her interest in addressing educational disparities between school 

systems and her commitment to maintaining Zebulon's charm while supporting growth and 

development. 

 

Mary Beth Carpenter, executive director of Preservation Zebulon, announced the organization's 

third historic homes tour scheduled for April 12. She mentioned that six homes in the historic 

district would be open for tours along East and West Sycamore Street, West North Street, and 

Gannon Avenue. 

 

A representative from the Zebulon Boys and Girls Club spoke about their recent success at the 

Kings and Queens basketball tournament. He thanked the board and community for their 

support and recognized the coaches and players for their hard work in winning the 

championship. 

 

CONSENT 
A motion was made to approve the consent agenda. 

 

Commissioner Baxter made a motion, second by Commissioner Davis to approve Resolution 

2025-11. There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

Parks & Recreation – Consideration of Non-Profit Event Rental 

Boys & Girl's Club 8k Event – Resolution 2025-12 
Director Long presented the Boys and Girls Club's request for their annual 8k event. She noted 

that this would be the third year of the 8k, which was previously a 5k. Ms. Long highlighted 

changes made in previous years, including moving the race off Arendell Avenue for safety 

reasons. She mentioned that the event is scheduled for September 20, 2025, from 7 AM to 1 

PM, with the race time from 10:30 AM to noon.  

 

Sheila Long explained that the event would utilize the back portion of the parking lot area for 

staging and would require a temporary closure of a portion of Judd Street. She stated that the 

rest of the race route would remain open to residents and traffic, with volunteers ensuring 

runner safety and providing directions. Per the fee schedule, the Town could charge up to 

$2,622.70 for the event. She noted that if approved, staff may need to request a budget 

amendment to cover expenses before the end of the fiscal year. 

 

32



Board of Commissioners 

Minutes 

April 7, 2025 

 

Commissioner Baxter asked if the fees could be incorporated into the budget if waived. Sheila 

confirmed that there was still time to incorporate this into the budget. Commissioner Baxter 

also requested that the race organizers chalk the route for added safety, to which John Hanlon, 

representing the Boys and Girls Club, agreed. 

 

John thanked the Board for their support and mentioned that the previous year's event had a 

good turnout with participants from out of town and local children enjoying the race. 

 

Commissioner Clark made a motion, second by Commissioner Miles to approve Resolution 

2025-12 with a complete fee waiver for the Boys and Girls Club 8k Event.   

 

Commissioner Baxter requested that the Boys and Girls Club provide a recap of the event after 

it takes place, including information on funds raised and future plans. 

 

There was no further discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

Angel Prints Annual Awareness Walk – Resolution 2025-13 
Director Long presented the Angel Prints Corporation's request for their fourth annual 

awareness walk. She explained that Angel Prints is a nonprofit serving Zebulon and the 

surrounding area, supporting families who have experienced pregnancy loss, stillbirth, and 

infant loss. 

 

Sheila Long noted that the event is proposed for Saturday, October 11, from 7 AM to 2 PM, 

with the main event running from 10 AM to 1 PM. She mentioned that the event would take 

place on the Town Hall campus and would not require any street closures. The 3k awareness 

walk would use the front driving loop and sidewalks along Arendell Avenue. Sheila informed 

the Board that per the fiscal year 2025 fee schedule, the Town could charge up to $1,567 for 

the event. She stated the event organizers had requested a fee waiver. 

 

Brandon Wiggins, co-founder of Angel Prints Corporation, thanked the Board for their 

continued support. He shared that in 2024, the organization supported 87 families through their 

outreach program, and to date, they have supported 206 families. Wiggins also mentioned that 

their awareness events supported 129 people last year, with a total of 230 to date. 

 

Commissioner Miles made a motion, second by Commissioner Baxter to approve Resolution 

2025-13 with a full fee waiver for the Angel Prints Annual Awareness.  

 

Commissioner Baxter requested that Wiggins provide a recap of the event after it takes place, 

similar to the request made for the Boys and Girls Club event. 

 

There was no further discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

Planning – Judd Street Annexation 

Public Hearing – Annexation of Lots on Judd Street – Ordinance 2025-28 
Cate Farrell presented the annexation request for two properties at the end of Judd Street. She 

explained that the applicant was William J Pennington II, and the owners were DJI Properties 

LLC. The properties had no assigned address but were identified by their PIN numbers: 

2705074425 and 2705074498. The combined acreage of the lots is 0.8 acres. 

 

33



Board of Commissioners 

Minutes 

April 7, 2025 

 

Cate noted that public hearing notifications were posted on both lots, mailed to neighbors 

within 750 feet, published in the Wake Weekly newspaper, and posted on the Town website. 

She explained that the properties were currently in the Town's Extra Territorial Jurisdiction 

(ETJ) and zoned as R4 (Residential Neighborhood District). Annexation was required for these 

lots to receive water and sewer services from the City of Raleigh. 

 

Cate reviewed the annexation standards, confirming that the application was complete, services 

could be provided, and there were no debt obligations or public health, safety, and welfare 

concerns. Cate stated that staff was recommending approval. 

 

There was some discussion on the extension of water and sewer lines. 

 

Mayor York opened the public hearing for comments on the annexation request. 

 

Mayor York asked for anyone wishing to speak in favor. There were none. 

 

Mayor York asked for anyone wishing to speak in opposition. There were none. 

 

Mayor York asked for anyone wishing to speak neither for nor against but just had comments. 

There were none.  

 

Mayor York closed the public hearing. 

 

Commissioner Baxter made a motion, second by Commissioner Harrison to approve Ordinance 

2025-28 for the annexation of Wake County PIN 2705074425 and 2705074498 into the 

Zebulon corporate boundaries, finding that the standards of section 2.2.2.G are met. There was 

no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

Parks & Recreation – Property Acquisition 
Commissioner Davis asked for a brief update on what property was being acquired for the 

citizens. 

 

Director Long presented information on the town's plan to purchase properties at 305 and 307 

South Arendell Avenue. She explained that the properties were located between the community 

center and community park, and their acquisition would allow for future expansion of both 

facilities. 

 

Sheila stated the master plan identified the need to expand the community park and potentially 

add facilities like a splash pad. She emphasized that securing these properties now would 

provide flexibility for future development and better serve the community's needs. Sheila 

explained that once funding was secured, the next step would be to develop a site plan 

incorporating all the parcels. The process would involve community engagement, similar to 

the Little River Park process, to ensure the plan reflected current community needs. 

 

Commissioner Davis expressed appreciation for the explanation, noting the importance of 

keeping citizens informed and involved in the process. 

 

34



Board of Commissioners 

Minutes 

April 7, 2025 

 

Commissioner Miles made a motion, second by Commissioner Davis, to ratify the contract for 

the purchase of 305 and 307 South Arendell Avenue. There was no discussion, and the motion 

passed unanimously. 

 

MANAGER’S REPORT 
The Town Manager provided updates on hiring processes for various positions: 

● Communications Manager: 122 applications received, 15 virtual interviews scheduled. 

● HR Director: 75 applications received and reviewed. 

● IT Specialist: 181 applications received, 16 forwarded for review. 

● Public Works Director: 23 applications received, closing date extended to April 12. 

● Equipment Operator: Posting remains open until two positions are filled. 

● Public Works Ops Manager: Internal posting, closes April 12. 

● Police Officer: Multiple positions posted for various levels. 

● Part-time Recreational Aid: Year-round position reposted with updated job description. 

 

The Manager also mentioned that a budget survey was live on the Town website, with a Spanish 

version to be available soon. 

 

BOARD COMMENTS 
Commissioner Harrison reported on her attendance at a conference in Myrtle Beach, South 

Carolina, focused on regional mixed-use development and youth sports as economic drivers 

for small municipalities. She expressed excitement about potential collaborations and ideas that 

could benefit Zebulon. 

 

Commissioner Harrison also addressed safety concerns in the Wedgewood Shopping Center 

following a recent break-in at the Dollar Tree. She invited Interim Chief Grossman to discuss 

how the police department is addressing these concerns.  

 

Chief Grossman encouraged business owners to contact the police department with any 

suspicious activity and provided the non-emergency number (919-829-1911) for after-hours 

observations. 

 

Lastly, Commissioner Harrison announced her upcoming participation in the 19th Annual North 

Carolina Black Summit as a panel leader, representing Zebulon and the North Carolina Black 

Elected Municipal Officials. 

 

Commissioner Clark acknowledged citizens' concerns about town vacancies and assured the 

public that the Board was working hard to address these issues. 

 

Commissioner Davis expressed appreciation for the diversity represented at the meeting and 

the Board's efforts to engage with all community members. She emphasized the dedication of 

the Board members in their roles and their constant engagement with citizens' concerns and 

ideas. 

 

Commissioner Baxter expressed excitement about the Latino community's participation in the 

meeting and the projects presented. She highlighted recent accomplishments of local youth, 

including the Boys and Girls Club basketball championship and a high-ranking student in the 

Boys and Girls Club Student of the Year competition. 

 

35



Board of Commissioners 

Minutes 

April 7, 2025 

 

She mentioned upcoming events and developments, including: 

● The Spring Fest on April 26 

● Her recent advocacy efforts in Washington, D.C. 

● Her upcoming transition to the role of President of Women in Municipal Government 

in North Carolina 

 

Mayor York announced several upcoming events and meetings: 

● Boys and Girls Club grand opening of the American Tower on April 9 

● A closed session with Wake County Commissioners regarding the Mudcats stadium 

● The NC League of Municipalities Conference in Greenville at the end of April 

 

CLOSES SESSION 
Commissioner Baxter made a motion, second by Commissioner Harrison to go into closed 

session for personnel discussions as allowed by North Carolina General Statutes 143-318.11.   

There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

Mayor York declared a 10 minute recess. 

 

NOTE: In closed session, Commissioner Harrison made a motion, second by Commissioner 

Baxter to come out of closed session. There was no discussion, and the motion passed 

unanimously. 

 

ADJOURN 
Commissioner Davis made a motion, second by Commissioner Clark to adjourn. There was no 

discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

 

Adopted this the 7th day of July, 2025 

 

 

       ________________________________ 

       Glenn L. York – Mayor 

 

 

  SEAL 

 

 

       _________________________________ 

       Ana Gomez Rindahl – Town Clerk 

36



Zebulon Board of Commissioners  
Work Session 

Meeting Minutes 

April 17, 2025 
 

 

Present: Mayor Glenn York, Jessica Harrison, Shannon Baxter, Quentin Miles, Beverly Clark, 

Amber Davis, Gilbert Todd, Jr.-Manager, Sheila Long-Parks & Recreation, Edwin Killette-

Police, Kerry Burke-Police, Bob Grossman-Police, Chris Perry-Fire, Cate Farrell-Planning, 

Eric Vernon-Attorney 

 
Mayor York called the meeting to order. 

 

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 

Commissioner Baxter made a motion, second by Commissioner Clark to approve the agenda. 

There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

Town Manager Todd read a statement of resignation stating that certain expectations from the 

Board he thought required him to do things that were unethical. He thanked the staff, residents 

and members of the Board who supported him. His resignation was effective immediately. 

 

Gilbert Todd, Jr. left the meeting. 

 

OLD BUSINESS 

 
Parks & Recreation – Gill Street Park Update 

Sheila Long provided an update on the status of Gill Street Park. She reminded the Board that 

Gill Street Park was a former landfill from pre-1960’s that was redeveloped as a park in the 

1960’s. In fall 2023, there was public engagement regarding playground improvements and 

Board discussion about adding bathrooms. In April 2024, preconstruction soil testing identified 

elevated lead levels, confirming contamination. In August 2024, the Board accepted DEQ's 

offer to join the pre-regulatory landfill program for additional soil testing and assessments. 

 

Sheila reported that DEQ hired Hart Hickman to conduct further investigation and develop a 

plan to address the contamination. She noted that repurposing landfills as parks was common 

practice during that time frame, and many communities were dealing with similar issues. Hart 

Hickman submitted another report to DEQ the previous week and was working to secure access 

to neighboring properties for additional testing. 

 

Sheila proposed creating a capital project fund using $785,850 available in the FY 2025 budget, 

including $500,000 for bathrooms, $110,000 for playground replacement, and $30,000 for 

community planning. She explained that this would recognize the project would occur over 

multiple years and prevented funds from reverting to the general fund annually. She presented 

two ordinances to establish the fund and move the existing funds into it. 

 

Sheila also presented an opportunity to consider relocating the park to a larger parcel of town-

owned land near Zebulon Middle School and East Wake Academy, which could allow for 

37



Board of Commissioners 

Work Session Minutes 

April 17, 2025 

 

additional amenities and potential partnerships. She emphasized this was just an option to 

consider and not a recommendation for immediate action. 

 

Commissioner Miles expressed concern about moving funds without engaging citizens first, as 

they had expected the funds to be used for a bathroom. Sheila Long clarified that creating the 

capital fund would solidify the Town's commitment to the project and keep the funds dedicated 

to Gill Street Park. 

 

Commissioner Baxter asked about the timeline for receiving the full DEQ report. Sheila 

estimated it could take another year due to difficulties securing access to neighboring properties 

and the involvement of multiple state agencies. 

 

There was extensive discussion about how long it would take for the bathrooms to be built at 

Gill St. Park and the possibility of partnering with others in the area to do more. 

 

Commissioner Harrison made a motion, second by Commissioner Baxter to approve Ordinance 

2025-30. There was no discussion, and the motion passed with a vote of 3-2 with 

Commissioners Davis and Miles voting against, and Commissioners Clark, Harrison, and 

Baxter voting in favor. 

 

Commissioner Baxter made a motion, second by Commissioner Harrison to approve Ordinance 

2025-31. There was no discussion, and the motion passed with a vote of 3-2 with 

Commissioners Davis and Miles voting against, and Commissioners Clark, Harrison, and 

Baxter voting in favor. 

 

PLANNING – REGIONAL MIXED-USE 

Cate Farrell presented an update on the proposed Regional Mixed Use (RMU) district text 

amendment. She reviewed the standards for UDO text amendments, including consistency with 

the comprehensive plan, addressing community needs, and ensuring efficient development. 

 

Cate provided context on vacant land in Zebulon's future growth area and explained how the 

RMU district fit into the range of densities allowed in town. She presented examples of what 

RMU developments could look like and how they compare to existing non-residential districts. 

 

Cate outlined the benefits of allowing RMU as a by-right district choice, including promoting 

fiscally productive development, providing predictability for investors, and enhancing quality 

of life for residents. She detailed the proposed changes to the UDO, including dimensional 

standards, design standards, and updates to the table of uses. 

 

There was discussion about the utility allocation policy points and how that worked with a 

mixed-use development 

 

The Board discussed lowering the threshold for changes to the number of residential units 

before requiring board approval from 15% to 10%. The Board agreed to lower the percentage 

to 10%. 

 

They also debated removing blood and tissue collection sites from the allowed uses table,  

Pawn shops were discussed and the thought of removing them from the use table and ultimately 

decided to keep it as a special use permit. 

38



Board of Commissioners 

Work Session Minutes 

April 17, 2025 

 

 

Commissioner Baxter made a motion, second by Commissioner Davis to approve Ordinance 

2025-25, finding that the RMU district is consistent with the Grow Zebulon comprehensive 

land use plan and meets the standards of UDO 2.2.0.21.G as amended to lower the threshold 

of amending the number of residential units from 15% to 10%. There was no discussion, and 

the motion passed unanimously. 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

 

Police – C.A.R.E. Unit Update 

Captain Killette provided an update on the Community Advocacy and Resource Enhancement 

(CARE) Unit, which embedded two master's level social worker interns in the Zebulon Police 

Department. The unit had received over 140 referrals since September, impacting 213 children 

and their families. 

 

For Q1 2025, the CARE Unit offered services to 54 children who had experienced trauma. The 

most common issue addressed were mental health (38.5%), family support (33.3%), and youth 

and peer support (28.2%). Captain Killette reported that 82% of cases assigned during Q1 were 

still open, with about 1 in 10 families accepting services. 

 

Captain Killette presented data showing that 83% of households that accepted and engaged 

with CARE services did not have another call to their residence, while 100% of households 

that did not accept services had repeat calls. He emphasized the program's success in breaking 

the cycle of repeat calls and trauma for children. 

 

Sarah Jump, one of the social work interns, shared personal experiences from the program. She 

described how families often felt neglected or dismissed by other services in the past, and how 

the CARE Unit provided genuine connection and support. Ms. Jump shared success stories, 

including helping a family find specialized dental care for a child with autism and supporting 

a teenager with mental health needs. 

 

Officer Burke, who initiated the program, expressed her excitement and gratitude for its 

development. She highlighted the emotional impact on families who finally felt heard and 

supported. 

 

The Board expressed appreciation for the program's success and requested comprehensive data 

for the entire duration of the project. 

 

 

CLOSED SESSION 

Commissioner Harrison made a motion, second by Commissioner Baxter to go into closed 

session. There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

Mayor York called for a 5 minute recess. 

 

Note: In closed session, Commissioner Harrison made a motion, second by Commissioner 

Baxter to come out of closed session. 

 

 

39



Board of Commissioners 

Work Session Minutes 

April 17, 2025 

 

 

ADJOURN 

Commissioner Harrison made a motion, second by Commissioner Baxter to adjourn.  There 

was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

Adopted this the 7th day of July, 2025 

 

 

 

       _________________________________ 

       Glenn L. York – Mayor 

 

  SEAL 

 

       _________________________________ 

       Ana Gomez Rindahl – Town Clerk 

 

40



1 
 

Zebulon Board of Commissioners 

Work Session 

Minutes 

May 5, 2025 
 

Present: Glenn L. York-Mayor, Jessica Harrison-Mayor Pro Tem, Beverly Clark-Commissioner, 

Amber Davis-Commissioner, Shannon Baxter-Commissioner, Quentin Miles-Commissioner, 

Taiwo Jaiyeoba-Interim Town Manager, Lisa Markland-Interim Town Clerk, Chris Medina-

Planning, Tonya Easterwood-IT, Shannon Johnson-Economic Development, Tim Owens-Public 

Works, Bob Grossman-Police, Chris Perry-Fire, Sheila Long-Parks & Recreation, Samuel A. 

Slater-Attorney. 

 

Mayor York called the meeting to order at 6:00pm. 

 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 

Mayor Pro Tem Harrison led the pledge of allegiance. 

 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 

Mayor Pro Tem Harrison made a motion, second by Commissioner Baxter. There was no 

discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

SCHOOL RECOGNITIONS 

 

A. East Wake High School  

Mayor York recognized East Wake High School student Kai King and teacher Christopher Torr. 

 

B. Proclamations 

The Town of Zebulon, led by Commissioner Baxter, officially recognized the Zebulon Gifted and 

Talented Magnet Middle School Family, Career and Community Leaders of America (FCCLA) 

students for their outstanding achievements at the North Carolina FCCLA State Conference.  

 

The Town of Zebulon, led by Commissioner Baxter, officially recognizes the Zebulon Gifted and 

Talented Magnet Middle School Health Occupations Students of America (HOSA) students for 

their top two achievements at the North Carolina HOSA State Conference 

  

PUBLIC COMMENTS 

 

Mayor York reminded those who spoke that there was a time limit of 15 minutes, allowing each 

speaker 3 minutes, speakers were not permitted to discuss public hearing items or matters requiring 

a closed session, nor could they speak more than once or yield their time to others. 

 

Jennifer Acevedo-Holmes, Weaver’s Pond resident, CEO of C3 nonprofit, urged the Town of 

Zebulon to support inclusive, community-driven initiatives aligned with its strategic plans. She 

highlighted successful collaboration during Spring Fest and requested the to approve and support 

41



Board of Commissioners Meeting 

Minutes 

May 5, 2025 

 

Zebulon’s first Latino Festival, with town partnership, event fee waivers, logistical support, and a 

clear review timeline. She emphasized that the community sought partnership, not charity, and 

was already doing the work outlined in the town’s vision. 

 

Emilio Reyes, Community Leader in East Wake, shared his passion for soccer and desire to 

promote the sport locally. He respectfully requested access to town fields, emphasizing his long-

standing love for Zebulon and its people. 

 

Robert Terry, 10608 Staghound Trail, thanked the Town of Zebulon, particularly the planning 

staff, planning board, and citizens, for their support and collaboration with the Gateway Zebulon 

Project. He praised the Town staff’s responsiveness and the planning board’s unanimous 

recommendation. He expressed gratitude for community advocacy and conveyed eagerness to 

move the project forward with the board’s approval. 

 

Cindy Mallard, 900 N. Church Street, spoke in support of the Clean Slate petition. She explained 

she signed it after thoughtful consideration to ensure her voice and others could be heard. She 

mentioned her concerns were not personal but focused on issues such as slow or absent decision-

making, lack of policy adherence, staff not being heard, and the resulting financial and emotional 

toll. She also acknowledged and thanked town employees for their visible, consistent efforts, 

agreeing with the Mayor’s statement that Zebulon was open for business. 

 

Robin Hasslen, 808 N. Church Street, expressed concern over unresolved issues within the Town 

government, referring to them as the "elephant in the room." She referred to the Clean Slate 

petition as a community effort to confront these issues. As a retired university professor who taught 

critical race theory, she emphasized her commitment to truth and transparency. After speaking 

with former town staff members, Mr. Todd and Ms. Williams, following their resignations, she 

believed harm was done by some members of the Board of Commissioners and staff. She pledged 

to pursue justice and support a collaborative, functional local government. 

 

Scott Carpenter, a Zebulon resident, introduced the Zebulon Citizens Advisory Partnership 

(ZCAP), a citizen-led, non-political group focused on open dialogue and collaborative problem-

solving. He mentioned ZCAP had already engaged with town departments, including police and 

planning, and discussed topics like public safety, code enforcement, and the budget. He thanked 

officials and staff for their support and encouraged all residents to attend the May 20th meeting to 

raise issues and work together on solutions. 

 

CONSENT  

Mayor Pro Tem Harrison made a motion, second by Commissioner Clark to approve the 

consent agenda (which included the following):    

 

A. Finance 

i. Wake County Tax Report – December 2024 

ii. Wake County Tax Report – January 2025 

iii. Wake County Tax Report – February 2025 

iv. Audit Contract 

42



Board of Commissioners Meeting 

Minutes 

May 5, 2025 

 

 

B. Public Works 

i. Ordinance 2025-26 – Budget Amendment 

 

C. Fire 

i. Resolution 2025-11 – Adoption of Wake County Multi-Jurisdictional Hazard 

Mitigation Plan 

 

There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

PRESENTATIONS  

 

Interim Manager Jaiyeoba opened the presentation with an overview of the accelerated budget 

process for fiscal year 2025 - 2026, noting that due to the April 17th start date and the state-

mandated adoption deadline in June, the town must complete in two months what typically takes 

six. He mentioned, unlike in prior years, each department will present both operating and capital 

budgets together, beginning with Information Technology, Economic Development, and Public 

Works that evening. Additional departments will follow in the coming work sessions, with a 

combined draft budget presentation scheduled for May 20th. He mentioned a public hearing was 

set for June 2nd, and a proposed budget retreat was to be held on June 7th to allow for deeper 

discussion. He emphasized the importance of community engagement, noting that a recent 

Facebook post about the budget had reached approximately 4,400 residents. He commented that 

to build on that input, an open house was tentatively scheduled for June 14th to allow more 

residents to participate and ask questions.  

 

Tai also introduced consultant David Hill, who presented findings from the town’s compensation 

study, commissioned as part of the FY24–25 budge, to ensure Zebulon remains competitive as an 

employer and to support employee morale. He mentioned the recommendations from the study 

will be incorporated into upcoming budget presentations.  

 

Board members were asked to treat the departmental presentations as listening sessions, 

encouraged clarifying questions and feedback, and asked board members to reach out to 

department directors as needed. He reiterated the difficulty of the compressed schedule and the 

commitment to align public input with the board’s strategic goals. 

 

A. Departmental Budget Requests 

 

i. Information Technology 

Tonya Easterwood, Zebulon’s IT Director, presented the proposed FY26 technology budget, 

emphasizing strategic priorities aimed at securing and supporting the town’s growing 

technological needs. With just two staff members in the IT department, including herself and a 

newly approved IT specialist, Ms. Easterwood outlined how the team handles everything from 

strategic planning and project management to daily tech support across all departments. 

 

43



Board of Commissioners Meeting 

Minutes 

May 5, 2025 

 

The presentation focused on three core pillars: user support, data governance, and infrastructure. 

She explained efforts to equip staff with standardized, efficient devices, like tablets and laptops, 

especially for fieldwork, ensuring seamless operations regardless of location. The department was 

also developing an accurate inventory of technology assets and improving data-driven decision-

making, while addressing connectivity gaps such as previously unreliable internet at the 

community center. 

 

Ms. Easterwood highlighted the importance of involving IT in the early stages of software 

procurement to minimize redundancy and ensure better integration across departments. She noted 

improvements in infrastructure, including upgrades to servers, switches, and firewalls, and stressed 

the critical, though often invisible, role these elements play in security and daily operations. 

Examples included Office 365 licensing and cybersecurity tools to reduce phishing threats—staff, 

including board members, are occasionally tested as part of ongoing training. 

 

On the budget side, she noted a modest increase, partly due to the new IT position. Tonya 

mentioned key expense areas including professional and contracted services, hardware upgrades, 

and network needs. She concluded by explaining that while the IT budget was previously folded 

into Administration, it was now presented as a standalone department for greater transparency as 

the town continues to grow. 

 

ii. Economic Development 

Shannon Johnson, Community and Economic Development Director, presented a draft budget 

focused on maintaining and expanding support for downtown revitalization, small business 

growth, and infrastructure planning. She began by discussing the Zebulon Downtown 

Development Association (ZDDA), highlighting the continued $15,000 allocation for facade 

improvement grants, with five grants already issued and one pending. She noted the reintroduction 

of the Downtown Improvement Grant for building upfits, proposing $15,000 contingent on 

ZDDA’s implementation by mid-year. 

 

She outlined a new $19,000 capital improvement project to fund the Main Street Tourism Plan, 

developed with guidance from the NC Main Street Program and a consultant group, Uplift. This 

initiative, which began with a kickoff meeting and itinerary themes, was featured on regional 

tourism platforms. She highlighted that insurance coverage for ZDDA was necessary now that it 

operates as a nonprofit. 

 

New funding for small business programming was introduced, including a business launch course 

at East Wake Tech beginning in September, and Zebulon’s first comprehensive business retention 

and expansion program, aimed at surveying and supporting local businesses over the next 9–12 

months. 

 

For infrastructure, she requested $30,000, which was reduced from $50,000, for assessments at the 

historic 200 E. Horton Street property and to evaluate downtown water and sewer infrastructure. 

Additional budget items included $10,000 for increased marketing, the completion of a new 

promotional video and website, and modest office furniture upgrades to make the department’s 

current space more professional and public-friendly. 

44



Board of Commissioners Meeting 

Minutes 

May 5, 2025 

 

 

She closed the presentation noting that the overall request was less than the FY24–25 budget and 

welcomed follow-up questions from the board. 

 

iii. Public Works  

Tim Owens, Interim Public Works Director, began his remarks by providing a high-level overview 

of the department’s budget and projects, noting that detailed backup information has been 

submitted to the Interim Town Manager. He introduced key staff members present, Mary Duffy- 

Administrative and Contracts Manager, Joel Collins-Capital Projects Manager, and Kevin Watson- 

Stormwater Manager, who were there mainly for support and to answer questions. Mr. Owens 

acknowledged current vacancies in the operations team and emphasized ongoing efforts to fill 

these positions. 

 

He explained that the budget was divided among four divisions: property and project management, 

operations, Powell Bill, and stormwater, with most employees in property/project management 

and operations. He highlighted that much of the budget increase from the previous year reflected 

capital expenditure, including $1.45 million in property/project management and $5.5 million in 

operations projects. He detailed staffing changes, such as upgrading a part-time receptionist to full-

time and promoting an administrative assistant. 

 

He touched on capital project ordinances that span multiple budget years, noting that some projects 

were underway or nearly completed. He summarized key upcoming capital needs for FY 25–26, 

including replacing aging equipment like the town hall mower and bucket truck, expanding and 

upgrading the public works office, and adding paving funds. He stressed the importance of finding 

smarter ways to maintain service delivery without significantly increasing staffing. 

 

He concluded by expressing appreciation for his team’s expertise and dedication, emphasizing the 

need to fill vacancies to move forward effectively. 

 

 

Interim Town Manager Jaiyeoba emphasized that the upcoming fiscal year will be a lean budget 

cycle, focused on maintaining essential operations rather than pursuing major new initiatives. He 

mentioned department directors have been instructed to keep requests minimal unless they were 

critical. He mentioned that most budget pressures were expected in Public Works, Parks & 

Recreation, and Police, with likely requests involving only filling vacancies or minor staffing 

adjustments, such as converting part-time roles to full-time. 

 

Tai proposed moving the next work session from May 8th to May 7th due to scheduling conflicts 

and suggested holding a budget retreat on Saturday, June 7 to allow more in-depth review, given 

the compressed timeline. He confirmed the May 7 session would include presentations from the 

Fire, Police, Planning, and Parks & Recreation departments, and that the time for the June retreat 

was tentatively planned for the morning. 

 

 

 

45



Board of Commissioners Meeting 

Minutes 

May 5, 2025 

 

 

B. Compensation Study: David Hill Consultant 

 

Finally, Tai introduced consultant David Hill, who would present the findings from the Town’s 

compensation study. Mr. Hill, an expert in municipal compensation, was engaged after last year’s 

budget adoption and would share comparative data and recommendations to support future staffing 

and salary planning. 

 

David Hill from the Piedmont Triad Regional Council presented the results of a six-month 

compensation market study for the Town of Zebulon. The purpose of the study was to evaluate the 

competitiveness of the town’s pay structure compared to similar municipalities and to recommend 

adjustments to support recruitment and retention. He noted that since the last comprehensive study 

in 2021, the town’s average employee tenure has declined from 8.9 years to 6.28 years, indicating 

a younger workforce and higher turnover. 

 

Mr. Hill commented that the study found that while the distribution of employee salaries across 

pay grades was generally healthy, the town appears to be hiring new employees at higher levels 

within the pay range, likely due to uncompetitive entry-level salaries. Hill mentioned the salary 

compression has improved since 2021, dropping from 40% to 27% of employees earning within 

10% above the minimum for their range. 

 

To assess competitiveness, Zebulon's positions were compared with similar roles in various North 

Carolina municipalities.  

 

David Hill recommended adopting a “smoothed” pay plan with a standardized 50% range and 

consistent 5% steps between grades, which would also simplify the grade numbering system. He 

presented three options for implementing the new pay structure. The first option would affect 95% 

of the employees and cost $1.1 million including payroll and benefits. The second option adjusted 

salaries based on years of service, placing employees at the midpoint by year eight, costing about 

$312,000. The third option built on option two by also applying a 3% cost-of-living (COLA) with 

an estimated cost of about $495,000. 

 

Mr. Hill highlighted the importance of keeping salaries aligned with the market to maintain a 

competitive edge in hiring and retaining qualified staff.  

 

During the discussion following the presentation, board members expressed interest in being able 

to follow up with David Hill if they had questions in the future.  

 

Interim Town Manager Jaiyeoba mentioned that Mr. Hill’s contact information would be shared, 

but that any communications should be coordinated through Finance Director Bobby Fitts to 

ensure efficiency and organization. He emphasized the importance of using one of the presented 

compensation scenarios as part of the upcoming budget plan. He noted that a similar study had 

been conducted in 2020 but had not been implemented, which contributed to the Town’s ongoing 

challenges in retaining staff. He stressed that maintaining the status quo would not support the goal 

46



Board of Commissioners Meeting 

Minutes 

May 5, 2025 

 

of making Zebulon an employer of choice. Instead, the Town needed to adopt a strategy that 

attracted and retained employees long-term.  

 

Tai explained that each scenario outlined in the study would have a positive impact, but some 

would affect more employees than others. He mentioned the inclusion of a 3% COLA adjustment 

in the third scenario was based on that analysis. He concluded that ultimately the goal was to 

determine which scenario was both beneficial and financially feasible within the constraints of the 

upcoming fiscal year’s budget. 

 

 

OLD BUSINESS 

A. Planning 

i. Ordinance 2027-27 – Zebulon Mixed Use Development for 0, 1928, and 1938 

Zebulon Rd 

 

Chris Medina, Planner I, presented the rezoning request PD2025-02 for the Zebulon Mixed-Use 

Planned Development, which had been previously introduced at the April 14th joint public hearing. 

The 14.5-acre site, located at 01, 1928, and 1938 Zebulon Road, was proposed for rezoning from 

Heavy Commercial and Suburban Residential to a Planned Development district. He noted that 

the plan, submitted by Beth Bailey of McKim & Creed on behalf of property owners Martha and 

Lonnie Stancil, included three commercial outparcels, two mixed-use buildings with retail and 

apartments, and four standalone apartment buildings. 

 

He highlighted pedestrian connectivity to the Beaver Creek Dam Trail, resident amenities, and 

compliance with perimeter, streetscape, and utility allocation requirements. He mentioned the 

developer also committed to road improvements along Zebulon Road. He confirmed that the 

proposal met or exceeded Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) standards and that the Planning 

Board had voted unanimously, with one recusal due to conflict of interest, to recommend approval. 

Mr. Medina highlighted staff also recommended approval, contingent on meeting Sections 2.2.25.J 

and 3.5.5 of the UDO. 

 

The developer briefly recapped the Zebulon Mixed-Use project, highlighting two new 

commitments: incorporating pollinator plants and reserving 5% or 13 units for workforce housing. 

The plan proposed rezoning 14.5 acres to Planned Development, with commercial uses at the front, 

mixed-use buildings in the center, and residential units at the rear. It included 250 units, 25,000 

sq. ft. of commercial space, various amenities, and greenway connectivity. The Developer 

highlighted that road improvements would be handled directly or through a fee-in-lieu. The 

developer emphasized the project’s uniqueness for Zebulon and readiness to address any board 

questions. 

 

Mayor Pro Tem Harrison made a motion, second by Commissioner Miles to approve Ordinance 

2025-27 for the rezoning of the Zebulon Mixed-Use project, finding it consistent with the Grow 

Zebulon Comprehensive Land Use Plan and confirming that the standards of Section 2.2.25.J had 

been met as outlined in the prepared statement per UDO Section 2.2.15.8.  

 

47



Board of Commissioners Meeting 

Minutes 

May 5, 2025 

 

Commissioner Miles expressed enthusiasm about the project, noting it offered a product not 

currently available in the community and looked forward to seeing its impact.  

 

There was no further discussion and by roll vote the motion passed unanimously. 

 

 

MANAGER’S REPORT 

 

A. Financial Statement Update – Addendum 

 

Interim Town Manager Jaiyeoba reported that the financial statement showed a summary of 

revenues and expenditures, noting there was nothing significant at this point in the year with two 

months remaining in the fiscal year. He stated that the Town was in a very good financial position. 

He mentioned a few minor budget transfers for the month, including reallocating funds within the 

governing board, police, and parks and recreation departments. 

 

Bobby Fitts reported the following budget transfers. 

 

Governing Board: 

Moved $5,000 from Retirement to Travel & Training; 

 

Police: 

Moved $5,000 from Recruitment to Salaries (Overtime); 

 

Parks & Recreation: 

Moved $5,000 from Team Uniforms to Grounds Maintenance; 

 

B. Budget and Staffing Updates 

 

Interim Town Manager Jaiyeoba updated that the Town faced some vacancies due to retirements 

and resignations, but progress was being made with interviews for Public Works Director and 

Human Resources Director positions underway. He mentioned he appointed Chris Perry and 

Teresa Piner to co-chair an interview panel, aiming to make job offers by mid-May. He noted that 

over 200 applicants had applied for director level roles, and he expected to provide more updates 

at the May 14th Work Session.  

 

Additionally, he noted that Lisa Markland had agreed to join as Interim Town Clerk, with hopes 

of finalizing that by the end of June. 

 

BOARD COMMENTS 

 

Commissioner Clark shared that she had attended the North Carolina League of Municipalities 

conference the previous week, which she found very informative. She noted that Commissioner 

Baxter was appointed President of the Women in Municipal Government. Commissioner Clark 

expressed appreciation for the learning opportunities from various towns.  

48



Board of Commissioners Meeting 

Minutes 

May 5, 2025 

 

 

Commissioner Harris thanked the staff for their hard work organizing and safely dismantling 

Spring Fest, expressing excitement for upcoming events. She also highlighted that it was Teacher 

Appreciation Week and encouraged everyone to recognize the efforts of teachers and school staff, 

noting that her own children were taught by some of them.  

 

 

CLOSED SESSION 

 

As allowed Per N.C. General Statute § 143-318.11: 

ii. Litigation Deacon Development, LLC v. The Town of Zebulon / Case #24-CVS-

020692-910 

iii. Personnel Discussions 

 

Commissioner Miles made a motion, second by Commissioner Baxter to go into the closed session.   

There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously.  

 

NOTE: In the closed session, Commissioner Miles made a motion, second by Commissioner Davis 

to come out of closed session. There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously 

 

There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

ADJOURN 

 

Commissioner Baxter made a motion, second by Commissioner Harrison to adjourn. There was 

no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

Adopted this the 7th day of July 2025 

 

 

       ____________________________________ 

       Glenn L. York – Mayor 

 

  SEAL 

 

       ____________________________________ 

       Ana Gomez Rindahl – Town Clerk 
 

49



50



1 
 

Zebulon Board of Commissioners 

Work Session 

Minutes 

May 7, 2025 
 

Present: Glenn L. York-Mayor, Jessica Harrison-Mayor Pro Tem, Beverly Clark-Commissioner, 

Shannon Baxter-Commissioner, Quentin Miles-Commissioner, Taiwo Jaiyeoba- Interim Town 

Manager, Lisa Markland- Interim Town Clerk, Chris Perry-Fire, Matt Lower-Planning, Bob 

Grossman-Police, Edwin Killette, Shiela Long-Parks & Recreation, Samuel A. Slater-Attorney  

 

Absent: Commissioner Amber Davis 

 

Mayor York called the meeting to order at 6:00pm. 

 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 

Jessica Harrison-Mayor Pro Tem Harrison made a motion, second by Commissioner Clark to 

approve the agenda. There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

 

A. Budget Presentations 

 

Interim Town Manager Jaiyeoba outlined the meeting’s budget presentations from the Planning, 

Parks and Recreation, Police, and Fire Departments. He noted the shift to a “priority budget” due 

to time constraints and growth needs. He explained some departments requested new or filled 

positions to expand service. He reviewed the upcoming schedule, including department 

presentations on May 14th, a public open house, the draft budget presentation on May 20th with 

three compensation scenarios, a public hearing on June 2nd, and a budget retreat on June 7th. He 

then invited the Planning Director to begin. 

 

i. Planning 

 

Planning Director Matt Lower presented the fiscal year 2026 budget for the department, 

emphasizing the need to prepare for Zebulon’s continued growth. He noted that even without new 

development, current entitlements would bring an estimated 6,600 new residents. He mentioned 

the budget aimed to maintain existing staffing levels, five planners, a technician, and two code 

enforcement officers, while formally transferring the transportation engineer contract from Public 

Works to Planning. He mentioned the plan included strategic spending to maximize public benefit, 

such as procuring an on-call planning firm and conducting a value-per-acre study to guide future 

updates to the comprehensive plan. 

 

He highlighted three major budget increases: salaries, due to standard raises; professional services, 

largely from contract transfer; and travel and training to support staff development. He noted these 

increases were to be funded through approximately $100,000 in lapsed salaries from unfilled 

51



Board of Commissioners Work Session 

Minutes 

May 7, 2025 

 

positions and an anticipated $60,000 to $120,000 rise in permit revenue based on current 

development trends. 

 

He focused on promoting staff retention and growth by supporting certifications like AICP, 

floodplain management, and zoning officer credentials, as well as participation in relevant 

conferences. He explained that these efforts would help make Zebulon a more attractive employer 

for planning professionals. He proposed using professional services for specialized planning areas 

and UDO updates and preparing for a future comprehensive plan revision by conducting a value-

per-acre study to better align planning decisions with fiscal impacts. 

 

ii. Parks & Recreation 

 

Parks and Recreation Director Sheila Long provided a comprehensive update on department 

operations, growth challenges, and budget priorities. She emphasized that growing demand from 

the expanding population had outpaced current staffing and funding levels. She noted maintenance 

standards had been reduced to accommodate increased workloads, including extending mowing 

intervals and handling a 70% increase in work orders compared to the previous year, without added 

staff. She commented that athletic participation had more than doubled since FY19, general 

program participation rose over 35%, and private facility rentals increased revenue by 133%. 

 

She explained that the FY26 budget proposal was guided by the Parks and Recreation Advisory 

Board, which prioritized right-sizing services, focusing on high-impact efforts, and preparing for 

continued growth. She commented that through meetings and feedback since September, staff 

crafted a proposal to increase the operating budget by $169,000, mostly driven by fixed costs like 

salaries and utilities, and no program fee increases were recommended. She mentioned that key 

reductions included delays to new programs such as after-school offerings, fewer adult arts and 

non-league sports programs, postponement of equipment purchases, and scaling back special 

events, particularly proposing to limit holiday programming to one major winter and one major 

spring event due to limited staff capacity. 

 

She commented that staffing adjustments were also recommended, including repurposing a 

vacated recreation assistant position into an athletic supervisor to meet increasing demands without 

adding a new position. She noted the department also proposed delaying the addition of new 

maintenance technicians, instead relying on part-time support to meet growing parks’ needs. 

 

She mentioned that on capital priorities, the Advisory Board reaffirmed land acquisition as the top 

priority, followed by enhancements to existing parks. She highlighted a $2 million CIP request, 

primarily funded by recreation impact fees. She noted that key projects included additional funding 

for Little River Park Phase I, site-specific planning for Community Park, stream restoration, and 

improvements at Zebulon Elementary’s volleyball court. She stressed that external funding, grants, 

partnerships, or potentially a parks bond would be necessary to meet long-term needs, especially 

for a recreation center, sports complex, neighborhood parks, and greenways. 

 

She concluded with a specific call to address the critical shortage of soccer fields due to rapid 

growth in the youth soccer program, which had strained current field availability and conditions, 

52



Board of Commissioners Work Session 

Minutes 

May 7, 2025 

 

with no backup fields and increased use of non-traditional spaces. She noted that upcoming 

construction at Town Hall campus would further impact field and parking capacity. She urged the 

Town to prioritize land acquisition for both neighborhood parks and a future sports complex to 

sustain and grow recreational services. 

 

iii. Police 

 

Interim Police Chief Bob Grossman provided a summary of the Police Department’s 

accomplishments and presented the proposed FY26 budget. He highlighted that in FY25, the 

department implemented a peer support program, launched the CARE unit, and partnered with 

Cary Psychology for officer wellness. He noted the department received a $7,500 ABC grant to 

help start wellness services, installed additional Automated License Plate Readers (ALPR) 

cameras, and transitioned to upgraded firearms with improved optics, resulting in higher accuracy 

scores. He mentioned the key goals for FY26 included crime prevention, improved traffic 

enforcement, accreditation, and employee wellness. 

 

Chief Grossman requested funding for two new police officers and a full-time social worker to 

ensure minimum staffing of three officers per shift, alleviate call volume strain, and support 

proactive policing. Calls for service had increased significantly from 8,000 in 2015 to over 27,000 

in 2023 and were projected to exceed 30,000 in 2025. The CARE unit showed promising results 

among residents who accepted services, 83% had no repeat calls; those who declined had a 100% 

repeat rate. 

 

The proposed additions were expected to improve response times, reduce staff fatigue, and 

enhance community engagement. Bob mentioned that grant funding was sought to cover personnel 

and equipment costs, including a $125,000 Victim of Crimes Act (VOCA) grant for the social 

worker and a $250,000 federal earmark request for two fully outfitted police vehicles. He noted 

that no other fleet replacements or capital projects were planned for the year. Police Captain Edwin 

Killette was introduced to present on the department’s LPR camera program. 

 

Police Captain Edwin Killette explained that Zebulon’s LPRs, primarily Flock cameras, were used 

to identify vehicles tied to crimes, issuing real-time alerts and providing 30 days of investigative 

data. He noted that access was limited to sworn officers, with all use being logged and audited, 

and that neighborhood HOAs could install their own cameras and grant or revoke police access. 

He mentioned the Department has six cameras and access to two or three more. He highlighted the 

system helped solve 23 serious local crimes and provided numerous leads, and the Officers 

received training, and audits ensured proper use. Each camera costs about $3,000 annually. 

 

iv. Fire 

 

Fire Chief Chris Perry reviewed the FY26 budget request, highlighting increased service demands 

with over 2,200 incidents and 515 simultaneous calls in 2024. He mentioned staffing was expanded 

through ARPA funds, enabling two fully staffed four-person crews, and a replacement fire truck 

was ordered but won’t arrive until 2028. He noted that the new fire station project required 

extensive interdepartmental effort, and a records management system was implemented to support 

53



Board of Commissioners Work Session 

Minutes 

May 7, 2025 

 

data-driven decision-making. He mentioned the budget increases under $50,000 covered staffing-

related costs, maintenance, and dispatch. He mentioned that capital items included funding 

placeholders for the new station, a traffic light project, defibrillator replacements, and turnout gear. 

He commented that despite a slight drop in the town’s cost share to 34.48%, call volume continues 

to rise across both municipal and county areas. 

 

 

CLOSED SESSSION 

As allowed Per N.C. General Statute § 143-318.11 for the purpose of personnel discussions.  

 

Commissioner Miles made a motion, second by Commissioner Baxter to go into closed session. 

There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

NOTE: In closed session, Commissioner Harrison made a motion, second by Commissioner Miles 

to come out of closed session. There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

 

ADJOURN 

Commissioner Clark made a motion to adjourn the meeting, second by Commissioner Harrison. 

There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously.  

 

 

Adopted this the 7th day of July 2025                                   

 

 

_________________________________ 

                                                                                    Glenn L. York—Mayor  

 

 

SEAL 

 

           __________________________________ 

           Ana Gomez Rindahl –Town Clerk  
 

 

54



1 
 

Zebulon Board of Commissioners 

Work Session 

Minutes 

May 20, 2025 

 
Present: Glenn L. York-Mayor, Jessica Harrison-Mayor Pro Tem, Commissioner Beverly Clark, 

Amber Davis-Commissioner, Shannon Baxter-Commissioner, Quentin Miles-Commissioner, 

Taiwo Jaiyeoba-Interim Town Manager, Lisa Markland-Interim Town Clerk, Eric Vernon-

Attorney. 

 

1. CALLED TO ORDER 

 

Mayor York called the meeting to order at 6:00pm. 

 

2. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 

 

Mayor Pro Tem Harrison made a motion to approve the agenda, seconded by Commissioner Davis.    

There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

 

Mayor York stated there needed to be a Special Called Meeting on May 28, 2025, at 6:00 p.m. to 

discuss personnel matters and asked for a motion. 

 

Commissioner Miles made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Harrison to call for a special 

called meeting on May 28, 2025 at 6:00pm for the purposed of personnel discussions. 

There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

3. CONSENT 

Commissioner Baxter made a motion, second by Commissioner Clark to approve the agenda, 

(which consisted of the following: 

A. Minutes  

August 26, 2024    October 14, 2024  

January 29, 2025    October 24, 2024  

September 25, 2024   May 19, 2025  

March 6, 2025    November 8, 2024  

September 30, 2024   November 11, 2024 

April 2, 2025    December 9, 2024 

April 8, 2025    April 23, 2025  

October 29, 2024  

There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

55



2 
 

4. BUDGET PRESENTATION FY 25-26 

Interim Town Manager Jaiyeoba opened the budget presentation by thanking the Board for their 

engagement during recent work sessions and recognizing staff and department directors for their 

efforts in preparing the budget over the past four weeks. He emphasized that the proposed budget 

was a collaborative effort, with special appreciation given to staff who had returned to assist with 

the process. 

It was confirmed that the budget process adhered to North Carolina General Statute 159, including 

timely submission of budget requests, revenue estimates, and the recommended budget, as well as 

scheduling a public hearing and planning for adoption before the start of the new fiscal year. 

Community input was collected through surveys reaching over 4,000 residents on Facebook and 

producing around 8,300 responses, in addition to two open houses and upcoming meetings. 

The Manager characterized the budget as a reflection of the town’s progress and challenges, with 

accomplishments organized into five key areas: public safety, infrastructure, amenities, economic 

development/planning, and staffing. In public safety, the Town supported hurricane response 

efforts, approved funding for emergency services infrastructure, and advanced officer mental 

health programs. Infrastructure improvements included forming an IT department, consolidating 

software for savings, upgrading connectivity, and launching project tracking plans. Parks and 

Recreation made progress on Little River Park and updated maintenance standards. 

Tai noted that in economic development, the Town added 185 jobs, graduated 13 entrepreneurs 

from the “Launch Business” program, earned Main Street accreditation, and initiated a housing 

study. Town staffing saw the largest pay increase in 25 years, with additional restructuring and 

staff development initiatives, including hosting a Wellness and Safety Day. 

The challenges related to growth, service demands, and staffing, particularly in public safety and 

infrastructure were acknowledged. Interim Manager Jaiyeoba concluded by expressing pride in 

the Team’s accomplishments and reaffirmed the Town’s commitment to responsible fiscal 

management and continuous improvement. 

Commissioner Baxter asked how the 8,300 survey responses were verified to ensure that they came 

from actual residents, clarifying that she was not questioning the results themselves. 

Interim Town Manager Jaiyeoba emphasized the importance of using zip codes in the survey to 

verify that respondents were actual residents of Zebulon, and asking key questions, such as where 

participants lived, helped to ensure the accuracy of the data. Residents were considered to be those 

who received daily town services like trash collection and water. He noted that the survey 

56



3 
 

responses came from verifiable residents, and they expressed appreciation for the large number of 

participants. 

Commissioner Baxter expressed appreciation for the large response from the community, 

describing it as impressive. They thanked everyone who worked hard in a short time to create a 

budget that was both meaningful and fiscally responsible, and that reflected the community’s 

needs. She also extended gratitude to the staff and Interim Town Manager Jaiyeoba for their 

comprehensive efforts in assembling the budget. 

Mayor York thanked the staff for their hard work in preparing the budget within a short timeframe, 

noting that it was well presented and appeared to be something the Board could move forward 

with. 

Commissioner Baxter asked where the community could access the budget, noting that copies were 

normally placed at the library, East Wake High School, and online. She also mentioned that the 

Chamber of Commerce typically received a copy and inquired if there were any other locations 

where residents could review the budget. 

Interim Town Manager Jaiyeoba invited the Director of Finance Bobby Fitts to respond, who 

confirmed that all named locations would receive copies, and one would also be available at the 

current location. He added that the information would be posted on the website by the next day. 

5. ADJOURN 

Commissioner Baxter made a motion to adjourn, seconded by Commissioner Miles. There was no 

discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

Adopted this the 7th day of July 2025 

 

 

       ____________________________________ 

       Glenn L. York – Mayor 

 

  SEAL 

 

       ___________________________________ 

       Ana Gomez Rindahl – Town Clerk 

57



58



Zebulon Board of Commissioners 

Minutes 

June 2, 2025 
 

Present: Glenn L. York-Mayor, Jessica Harrison-Mayor Pro Tem, Beverly Clark-Commissioner, 

Amber Davis-Commissioner, Shannon Baxter-Commissioner, Quentin Miles-Commissioner, 

Taiwo Jaiyeoba- Interim Town Manager, Cate Farrell-Planning, Sheila Long-Parks & Recreation, 

Bobby Fitts-Finance, Matt Lower-Planning, Bob Grossman-Police, Mary Duffy-Public Works, 

Shannon Johnson-Economic Development, Chris Perry-Fire, Lisa Markland-Town Clerk, Samuel 

A. Slater-Attorney 

 

Mayor York called the meeting to order at 6:00pm. 

 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

The pledge of allegiance was led by student Silvia Gutierrez Leyva from Wakeland Elementary 

School. 

 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 

Mayor York requested to remove the "Old Bun Road annexation and plan development" from the 

agenda and tabled it until August 4, 2025. 

 

Commissioner Baxter also requested to remove the “Board appointments” from the agenda and 

tabled it to the July 7, 2025, meeting due to the budget hearing scheduled for the evening. 

 

Commissioner Baxter made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Harrison to approve the agenda 

as amended.  There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

SCHOOL RECOGNITION  

 

Wakelon Elementary School 

Mayor York recognized two individuals from Wakelon Elementary School, student Sylvia 

Gutierrez Leyva and teacher Patrice Williams. 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD 

 

Mayor York reminded those who spoke that there was a time limit of 15 minutes, allowing each 

speaker 3 minutes, speakers were not permitted to discuss public hearing items or matters requiring 

a closed session, nor could they speak more than once or yield their time to others. 

 

Cindy Mallard, 900 N. Church Street, Zebulon, requested consideration of the Clean Slate Petition 

regarding the citizens’ discontent with the actions and inactions of the Board, including the failure 

to approve a transportation bond. 

 

Winter Todd, 511 Shepard School Road, Zebulon, mentioned she was the nominated speaker for 

the Clean Slate Petition, which was signed by 479 supporters. She expressed concerns about 

59



Board of Commissioners 

Minutes 

June 2, 2025 

 

community suspicion and potential sabotage aimed at silencing community members who speak 

out against the board, and requested the resignation of Commissioners Baxter, Harrison, and Davis 

effective November 4th. 

 

Commissioner Clark, commented on the growth of the Town, expressed support for the election 

of a new Board and Mayor. She resigned as Commissioner effective immediately, and requested 

the resignation of Commissioners Baxter, Davis and Harrison.  

 

Kerwin Pittman, 210 Cook Street, Raleigh NC, mentioned he was the Director of Emancipate NC, 

a group that looked at structural racisms and biases within the criminal justice system and 

governmental institutions. He expressed support for the current Board.  

 

Tory Harrison, 512 Carissa Lane, Zebulon, stated he was the spouse of Mayor Pro Tem Harrison 

and described Commissioner Harrison and the Board as equitable and always fighting for what 

was right. He expressed opposition to the Clean Slate Petition.  

 

CONSENT AGENDA 

  

Commissioner Miles requested to remove the Little River Park Deed of Gift from the Consent 

Agenda. Lisa Markland stated the Little River Park Deed of Gift was moved as item “D” under 

New Business.    

 

Commissioner Baxter made a motion, second by Commissioner Miles to approve the agenda as 

amended (which included the following): 

 

A. Finance 
i.     Wake County Tax Report – March 2025 

ii.     FY 2025 Appointment of Tax Collector – Resolution 2025-15 
iii.     Budget Amendment – Recognizing Investment Proceeds - Ordinance 2025-29 

 

A. Fire 
i. Wake County Fire Contract Renewal 

 

B. General 
i.  Meeting Calendar 2025-2026 

 

There was no discussion and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

NEW BUSINESS  

 

A. Finance  

 

Interim Town Manager Jaiyeoba  presented on the proposed Budget for FY 25-26. He shared the 

requirements set out by the general statutes. 

60



Board of Commissioners 

Minutes 

June 2, 2025 

 

 

Mr. Jaiyeoba  presented the Recommended Budget and proposed modifications made in Fiscal 

Year 24-25 

 

The public was invited to express thoughts, ideas, concerns, and opinions regarding the 

recommended budget and the proposed modifications in the Public Hearing. He informed the 

public that the Board of Commissioners were not engaging in dialogue at that time, and the public 

could contact Town Staff with questions pertaining to the budget following the Public Hearing.  

 

Mayor York declared the Public Hearing open and asked the public who wished to speak to come 

to the podium and state their names and address for the record. 

 

Mayor York asked if there was anyone who wished to speak in favor. There were none. 

 

Mayor York asked if there was anyone who wished to speak in opposition. There were none. 

 

Mayor York asked if there was anyone who wished to speak neither for nor against but had 

something to say. 

 

Nicholas Walton, 4014 Watsonia Drive, Zebulon, opposed items of the proposed budget, including 

the street light improvement project on Arendell Avenue, and favored using the budget and 

increasing property taxes for transportation alternatives to driving.    

 

Milton Robinson, 336 Rustling Way, Zebulon, spoke on behalf of the youth, and requested the 

budget to set aside funding for children’s programs. 

 

Dr. Crohan requested the Board to provide the budget information ahead of the meeting for the 

public to research before the Board meeting, requesting transparency, accessibility and 

accountability from public servants.  

 

Mayor York asked if there were electronic submissions or letters about the budget.  

 

Lisa Markland stated there were none. 

 

Mayor York closed the Public Hearing. 

 

B. Parks and Recreation 

Youth Financial Aid Policy 

 

Sheila Long, Parks and Recreation Director, presented the revisions to the Youth Financial Aid 

Policy, adopted in February 2022 to raise additional funds to start the financial aid program.  

 

Director Long recommended the Board adopt the following revisions to the Youth Financial Aid 

Policy: 

• Special considerations, including review of the eligibility for financial aid. 

61



Board of Commissioners 

Minutes 

June 2, 2025 

 

• Payment plans for families who do not qualify for financial aid and are facing financial 

difficulties. 

• Review of eligibility by the Parks and Recreation Advisory Board. 

 

Commissioner Baxter expressed concerns with appointed members of the Parks and Recreation 

Advisory Board having access to review the eligibility for financial aid and/or payment plans due 

to sensitive or uncomfortable financial situations that might get out into the public.  Commissioner 

Baxter requested redacting names and addresses from the applications. Director Long concurred 

with Commissioner Baxter’s recommendation to redact names and addresses from the 

applications.  

 

Commissioner Davis asked what documentation the applicants would provide for eligibility if 

Federal Programs – such as, SNAP or Section 8 were to be eliminated.  

 

Sheila Long mentioned she was not aware of the elimination of the Federal Programs, and if that 

was the case, the application process would be revisited for alternatives that facilitate the process 

for the applicants. She mentioned the current revisions to the Policy would make the application 

process easier for applicants.  

 

Commissioners requested clarifications regarding the verbiage for extenuating circumstances and 

asked for the removal of the once-a-year eligibility for extenuating circumstances.  

 

Commissioner Davis recommended the removal of language regarding “$500 in a quarter” to be 

sure the funds are used for everybody under any extenuating circumstance.  

 

Commissioner Baxter recommended approving the recommendation with the amendments from 

the Board.  

 

Commissioner Miles made a motion, second by Commissioner Davis to table the revision of the 

Youth Financial Aid Policy to the August 4, 2025 meeting. The motion failed with a vote of 2-3 

with Commissioners Miles and Davis voting in favor and Commissioners Baxter and Harrison 

voting against. There was a tie, and Mayor York voted again the motion. 

 

There was additional discussion about what the Board wanted to see in the policy. 

 

Commissioner Harrison made a motion, second by Commissioner Baxter to approve the Youth 

Financial Aid Policy with the following amendments: 

 

Sheila Long stated the following changes as requested: 

• Advisory Board review for those seeking special consideration would be through a blind 

process (removal of identifying and sensitive information) 

• Removal of the $500 balance for special consideration due to extenuating circumstances. 

• Removal of the one-time eligibility per year. 

 

62



Board of Commissioners 

Minutes 

June 2, 2025 

 

There was no further discussion and by a roll call vote the motion passed with a 3-2 vote, with 

Commissioners Davis and Miles voting against and Commissioners Baxter and Harrison voting in 

favor. There was a tie, and Mayor York voted in favor of the motion. 

 

Non-Profit Event Rental – Latino Festival 

Director Long presented the request for a Non-Profit Event Rental for a Latino Festival to be held 

on July 12, 2026 – Resolution 2025-26, consideration for fee waiver for town resources dedicated 

to the Latino Festival. 

• Applicant: Community Culture Celebrations (C3) and La Grande NC. 

• Original event date: August 10, 2025 

• Amended event date: July 12, 2026 

• Event set-up: 9:00am to 12:00pm 

• Event time: 12:00pm to 9:00pm 

• Breakdown 7:00pm to 9:00pm 

• Activities: Latino cultural festival, live music, performances, family activities, food trucks, 

and vendors. 

 

Members of La Grande radio station, and Jennifer Acevedo-Holmes, Zebulon resident and 

President and CEO of C3 introduced herself and shared about C3 and La Grande radio station 

goals for the Latino Festival. Acevedo-Holmes noted the event would be alcohol-free. 

 

Sheila Long requested the Board to approve or deny Resolution 2025-16 as requested for a Latino 

Festival, and to include whether they would - not waive fees, partially waive fees, or waive all 

fees. 

 

There was considerable discussion about what it would look like, the capacity of staff to do another 

large event, how many large events the Board wanted and what that would look like for all 

departments, the cost to the Town to shut down Arendell Avenue and the process of making a 

request for special events like the one made by C3. 

 

Commissioner Baxter made a motion to deny Resolution 2025-16 as requested for a Latino 

Festival, and to (not waive fees, partially waive fees, or waive all fees) pending an updated 

application by August 4, 2025, meeting explaining the partnership between the Town, C3 and La 

Grande radio station.  

 

The motion died for lack of a second.   

 

Major Pro Tem Harrison made a motion, second by Commissioner Davis to table the approval or 

denial of Resolution 2025-16 as requested for a Latino Festival, to the August 4, 2025 meeting. 

There was no discussion, and the motion was approved unanimously. 

 

C.  Planning 

1729 Pearces Road Annexation 

Cate Farrell, Planner II, presented 1729 Pearces Road Annexation Request, Ordinance 2025-32, 

including the Public Hearing Notification, Annexation Standards, and Staff Recommendation. 

63



Board of Commissioners 

Minutes 

June 2, 2025 

 

• Applicant: TBM Partners LLC 

• Property owners: Wall Purdy Family LLC 

• Property Address: 0 & 1729 Pearces Road 

 

Jason Barron with Morningstar Law Group on behalf of the Developer introduced himself 

expressed support of the annexation. 

 

Commissioner Miles expressed citizens’ concerns about the traffic on Pearces Road due to 

additional development of new houses.   

 

Mayor York declared the Public Hearing open and explained to speak they were to come to the 

podium and state their names and address for the record. 

 

Mayor York asked if there was anyone who wished to speak in favor. There were none. 

 

Mayor York asked if there was anyone who wished to speak in opposition. There were none. 

 

Mayor York asked if there was anyone who wished to speak neither for nor against but just had 

something to say. There were none. 

 

Mayor York closed the Public Hearing. 

 

Commissioner Baxter made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Harrison to approve 

Ordinance 2025-32 for the annexation of Wake County PIN 2707125054,1797914808 into the 

Zebulon Corporate Boundaries finding that the standards of Section 2.2.2.G are met. There was no 

discussion, and the motion passed with a 3-2 vote, with Commissioners Davis and Miles voting 

against and Commissioners Harrison and Baxter voting in favor. There was a tie and Mayor York 

voted in favor of the motion. 

 

1729 Pearces Road Planned Development 

Matt Lower, Planning Director, presented the Development for 1729 Pearces Road, including 

background, land use, transportation improvements, and recommendations and outcomes.  

 

Some of the amenities that the developer was willing to do was to install a roundabout at Pearces 

and Proctor, as well as at Pearces and Pippin, install the Jones St. #1 connection, and additional 

road improvements to name a few. These would drastically help with traffic issues seen on Pearces 

Road as well as in the area of N. Arendell and Pearces.  

 

Jason Barron with Morningstar Law Group on behalf of the Developer commended the staff for 

an incredible job in describing the project. Mr. Barron added a resident advisory board as a 

condition to the Homeowners Association (HOA) to be established per the recommendation of the 

Board. Mr. Barron noted the citizens’ concerns about traffic were included in the traffic study. It 

was requested the Board approve Ordinance 2025-33 

 

64



Board of Commissioners 

Minutes 

June 2, 2025 

 

Chris Perry, Fire Chief, presented the impact of the project that could affect the response of the 

Fire Department in case of emergency. Chief Perry stated that the response times were based on 

where the current fire station was located on E. Vance St. and not the new station on W. Judd St. 

behind Town Hall. He continued by stating that by the time the homes were actually on the ground 

the new fire station should be constructed. 

 

Bob Grossman, Interim Police Chief, presented the impact of the project on traffic that could affect 

the response of the Police Department. It was explained that the roundabouts and turn lanes, the 

developer would be constructing, would make it better for police response times.  

 

Commissioner Miles brought to attention the increase of time for the Fire Department and the 

Police Department to respond in case of emergency due to the development, and the growth 

affecting the schools. 

 

Commissioner Baxter made a motion, second by Commissioner Harrison to approve Ordinance 

2025-33, finding that the action is reasonable, consistent with the Grow Zebulon Comprehensive 

Land Use Plan, and compliant with UDO Section 2.2.25.J, as described in the prepared statement 

per UDO Section 2.2.15.G.3, with the condition that the developer shall extend Jones Street 

approximately 375 linear feet, from the north side of 300 Jones Street to the south side of 460 

Jones Street, in accordance with the Town of Zebulon’s standard design manual for a local street, 

including curb and gutter on both sides but without sidewalk installation, should sufficient impact 

fees be available to offset such costs, and further authorize staff to credit the developer’s 

transportation impact fee toward improvement costs, in fulfillment of said condition, or deem 

condition fulfilled if the Town chooses not to acquire any additional right-of-way if such 

acquisition is determined necessary jointly by staff and developer. 

 

There was no discussion and Mayor York called for a roll vote. The motion passed with a vote of 

3-1, with  Commissioners Davis, Harrison and Baxter voting in favor and Commissioner Miles 

voting against. The motion passed. 

 

D. Parks and Recreation 

Little River Park Deed of Gift 

Director Long presented the Little River Park Deed of Gift to the State of North Carolina for 

archive of archeological findings with no display value and answered questions from the Board. 

Pictures of the minute artifacts that would be gifted were handed out for the Board to review. 

 

Commissioner Miles made a motion, second by Commissioner Davis to approve the Little River 

Park Deed of Gift.  There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

E. Other New Business  

 

Mayor York introduced Tracy Alford, Director of Miss Zebulon. Ms. Alford introduced Miss 

Zebulon’s Teen 2025, Ella Marks, Ms. Marks’ Community Service Initiative (CSI), and Ms. 

Marks’ reminder that Kindness Day in Zebulon was scheduled for June 12, 2025, themed 

65



Board of Commissioners 

Minutes 

June 2, 2025 

 

“Kindness in Every Heart.” Ms. Alford introduced Miss Zebulon 2025, Ashtyn Thomas and her 

CSI. 

 

MANAGER’S REPORT 

 

Interim Town Manager Jaiyeoba invited Robert Fitts, Finance Director to report budget transfers. 

 

Police: 

Moved $5,000 from Recruitment to Vehicle Maintenance; 

 

Fire: 

Moved $4,500 from Medical Exams to Equipment Maintenance; 

Moved $5,000 from Part-time Salaries to Vehicle Maintenance. 

Parks & Recreation: 

Moved $3,800 from Cultural and Recreation Programs to Grounds Maintenance; 

Moved $1,330 from Special Events to Parade; 

Moved $4,900 from Part-time Salaries (Programs) to Part-time Salaries (Community Center);  

Moved $4,015 from Salaries to Insurance & Bonds; 

Moved $2,900 from Vehicle Maintenance to Electricity/Water. 

 

 

Interim Town Manager Jaiyeoba reiterated the Budget Retreat scheduled for June 7, 2025, from 

8:30am to 12:30pm to finalize the FY 25-26 budget. He mentioned the survey sent to the 

community for feedback about the recruitment of the Police Chief and the Town Manager. He 

sought directions from the Board regarding the recruitment of the Town Manager to be conducted 

in-house instead of requesting the support of a consultant for the recruitment.  

 

Commissioner Baxter and Mayor Pro Tem Harrison thanked Interim Town Manager Jaiyeoba for 

the initiative and informed him to move forward with the initiative. Commissioner Miles asked 

Interim Town Manager Jaiyeoba if there would be additional costs with the initiative. Interim 

Town Manager Jaiyeoba informed the Board there would be no additional costs besides the 

advertisement for the position.  

 

BOARD COMMENTS 

 

Commissioner Baxter highlighted June was Pride Month and Men’s Mental Health Awareness 

Month. She informed the Eastern Regional Center located at 1002 Dogwood Dr, Zebulon was 

having their free Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) testing day on June 24, 2025, from 

10:00am to 1:00pm. She reminded the public to wear sunscreen and hydrate as the summer 

approaches.  

 

Commissioner Miles thanked the public who attended the meeting as their participation was vital 

to the community.  

 

66



Board of Commissioners 

Minutes 

June 2, 2025 

 

Mayor Pro Tem Harrison extended her condolences to the Town of Smithfield for the passing of 

Council member Maron Lee on May 27, 2025. She presented Council member Lee’s family, on 

behalf of the Town of Zebulon, with a Resolution from the North Carolina Black Elected 

Municipal Officials. She addressed the Clean Slate Petition acknowledging the citizens for their 

engagement in democracy regardless of their position and expressed gratitude how the petition 

brought the Board closer together. She highlighted her commitment to continue to work diligently 

side-by-side with her fellow Board members and the Zebulon community to achieve progress 

through open dialogue and collaborative efforts.  She thanked Commissioner Clark for her 

guidance on the Board.  

 

Commissioner Davis congratulated the graduates of 2025 and wished them success on their 

endeavors. She reiterated Men’s Mental Health Awareness Month as the importance to support 

men’s mental health. She thanked the participants of the Budget Survey and all surveys that came 

before the Board and thanked every citizen that voted for her and continued to support her, and 

she served her role wholeheartedly. She thanked her fellow board for their dedication and work 

for the community. 

 

Mayor York mentioned the Zebulon’s Lions Club 75th anniversary and thanked the Zebulon’s 

Lions Club for their services over the years and their community partnership. He appreciated all 

who participated in the democratic process and for speaking what they felt was their truth. He 

stated the Board had the best in their hearts for the Town.  

 

ADJOURN 

 

Mayor Pro Team Harrison made a motion, second by Commissioner Davis to adjourn. There was 

no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously.  

 

 

Adopted this the 7th day of July 2025 

 

                                       _________________________________ 

   Glenn L. York—Mayor  

 

 

SEAL 

 

           __________________________________ 

           Ana Gomez Rindahl—Town Clerk  
 

67



68



1 
 

Zebulon Board of Commissioners 

Work Session 

Minutes 

June 16, 2025 
 

Present: Glenn L. York-Mayor, Jessica Harrison-Mayor Pro Tem, Amber Davis-Commissioner, 

Shannon Baxter-Commissioner, Quentin Miles-Commissioner, Taiwo Jaiyeoba- Interim Town 

Manager, Lisa Markland- Interim Town Clerk, Sheila Long – Parks & Recreation, Bob Grossman-

Police, Bobby Fitts-Finance, Tim Owens- Public Works, Matt Lower-Planning, Shannon Johnson-

Economic Development, Tonya Easterwood-IT, Chris Perry-Fire, Monique Merriweather-

Yarborough – HR, Samuel A. Slater-Attorney, Ana Gomez Rindahl, Town Clerk. 

 

Mayor York called the meeting to order at 6:00pm. 

 

1. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 

Mayor York asked to amend the agenda. 

 

Commissioner Miles made a motion to approve the agenda, seconded by Commissioner Davis.    

There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

2. OLD BUSINESS 

 

A. Budget Fiscal Year 25-26 Consideration for Adoption 

Interim Town Manager Jaiyeoba presented the proposed FY 2026 budget for adoption. 

Finance Director Bobby Fitts presented a recap of the recommended budget presented on May 20, 

2025, and outlined subsequent modifications. 

• Budget Recap and Modifications 

• Staffing Requests 

o Public Safety: Addition of two patrol officers and one social worker. 

o Public Works: Additional administrative support. 

o Parks & Recreation: Repurposing and reallocation of positions to meet community 

needs. 

o Information Technology: Funding for a summer student intern, potentially 

extending beyond summer. 

o Administration: Conversion of Assistant Town Manager to Executive Assistant to 

the Town Manager, Communications Director to Communications Manager. 

o Human Resources Budget: addition of a part-time HR Administrative Assistant. 

• Employee Compensation 

o The consultant’s compensation study presented three options: 

▪ $1.1 million option: covers ~95% of employees. 

▪ $500,000 and $315,000 options: nearly all employees covered except new 

hires. 

o Recommendation to bring the consultant back next year for a follow-up, as 

compensation adjustments in neighboring towns could affect competitiveness. 

o Emphasis on regular, moderate adjustments to avoid large, infrequent increases. 

69



Board of Commissioners Work Session 

Minutes 

June 16, 2025 

 

o Goal: Boost employee morale and maintain competitive pay. 

• Capital Needs 

o Roadway improvements 

o Land acquisition 

o $1.89 million for Phase 1 of Little River Park development. 

o Police vehicles 

o Fire station 

• Clarification: Approval of capital budget is not a blanket approval; specific projects (e.g., 

land acquisition, road improvements) will return to the Board for individual approval. 

Police vehicles may proceed without additional Board approval due to urgency and cost 

considerations. 

• Tax Rate & Revenue 

o Tax rate remains unchanged at 57.7 cents per $100 valuation. 

o Total recommended expenditure: $28.8 million. 

o Revenue sources remain consistent with the previous year. 

o Budget aligns with the 2030 Strategic Plan, responds to community input (public 

safety, economic development, recreation), maintains a healthy fund balance, and 

supports town growth.  

• June 7, 2025, Board Retreat & Budget Modifications driven by: 

o Staff Support: Training, development, and an efficient work order system to 

improve procurement and support small businesses. 

o Compensation Increases: Continued support for staff and creation of a new Support 

Specialist position (front-facing/help desk role for residents and staff). 

o Tuition Reimbursement: Continued support for employee education. 

o Commissioners asked clarifying questions on timelines for park development, 

police hiring schedule, and grant matching potential. Staff responded with projected 

timelines (park construction summer 2025, hires completed by FY start). 

• Resident-Focused Modifications 

o Strategic Plan Update: Increased resident engagement. 

o Mayor’s Youth Advisory Council: Formation and support for youth empowerment 

and summer internships. 

o Community Engagement Platform: $10,000 allocated for a digital platform to 

facilitate resident-government interaction and education (e.g., Budget 101 

sessions). 

o Town Services Application: Funding for an application to improve resident access 

to services. 

o Language Access: Enhanced services for non-English-speaking residents. 

o Special Community Event: Addition of a new flagship event, based on community 

feedback. 

o Tax Incentives & Home Infrastructure Program: Economic development to assist 

seniors and low-income homeowners with tax relief and home upgrades. 

• Emphasis on the importance of ongoing community engagement, transparency, and 

responsiveness to resident needs. 

• Board commended for supporting innovative engagement tools and staff development. 

 

70



Board of Commissioners Work Session 

Minutes 

June 16, 2025 

Commissioner Miles made a motion, second by Commissioner Davis to approve Ordinance 2025-

55, Operating Budget for Fiscal Year 2025-2033 as amended. There was no discussion, and the 

motion passed unanimously.   

B. Acceptance of Resignation.

a. Mayor York read a statement concerning the resignation of Commissioner

Beverly Clark.

Mayor Pro Tem Harrison made a motion, second by Commissioner Baxter to accept the resignation 

of Commissioner Beverly Clark.  There was no discussion and the motion passed unanimously.  

Interim Town Manager Jaiyeoba introduced the new Human Resources Director - Monique 

Merriweather-Yarborough, Public Works Director - Richard Fletcher, and Town Clerk - Ana 

Gomez Rindahl. 

3. CLOSED SESSSION

As allowed Per N.C. General Statute § 143-318.11:

i. To consult with the Town’s Attorney.

ii. Litigation Deacon Development, LLC v. The Town of Zebulon.

Commissioner Miles made a motion, second by Commissioner Davis to go into closed session. 

There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously.  

NOTE: In closed session, Commissioner Miles made a motion, second by Mayor Pro Tem 

Harrison to come out of closed session. There was no discussion, and the motion passed 

unanimously. 

4. ADJOURN

Commissioner Davis made a motion, second by Mayor Pro Tem Harrison to adjourn. There was 

no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously.  

Adopted this the 7th day of July 2025 

_________________________________ 

Glenn L. York—Mayor  

SEAL 

 __________________________________ 

 Ana Gomez Rindahl—Town Clerk 

71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154



155



156



157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



165



166



167



168



169



170



171



172



173



174



175



176



177



178



179



180



181



182



183



184



185



186



187



188



189



190



191



192



193



194



195



196



197



198



199



200



201



202



203



204



205



206



207



208



209



210



211



212



213



214



215



216



217



218



219



220



221



222



223



224



225



226



227



228



229



230



231



232



233



234



235



236



237



238



239



240



241



242



243



244



245



246



247



248



249



250



251



252



253



254



255



256



257



258



259



260



261



262



263



264



265



266



267



268



269



270



271



272


	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page



